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I am pleased to present EY Norway’s Annual and Sustainability Report 2024/2025, 
offering insight into our progress, priorities, and impact over the past year. This report 
reflects EY’s commitments and activities to creating long-term value for our employees, 
clients, and society – and to fulfilling our purpose of Building a better working world.

A year of transition and new direction
Fiscal Year 2025 (FY25) has been a landmark year for EY Norway. 
It marked my first year as Country Managing Partner for EY 
Norway and the first under our new global EY strategy, “All in.” The 
strategy unites our people across the world with a shared ambition: 
to accelerate EY’s growth and impact through collaboration, 
innovation and inclusion. 

The message “Shape the future with confidence” captures our 
mindset perfectly. For EY Norway, it means empowering our 
people to lead with purpose, supporting our clients with insight and 
foresight, and ensuring that we continue to be a trusted partner in 
an evolving business environment.

Highlights from FY25
FY25 marked another year of growth and resilience for EY Norway, 
with revenues exceeding NOK 5 billion. Demand for our traditional 
audit services remained stable, while our tax and legal practices 
experienced increased activity as clients navigated a dynamic 
landscape of tariffs and shifting tax policies.

A key driver of this year’s strong performance has been our 
expertise in artificial intelligence and its transformative potential 
across all areas of business. Our teams have helped clients 
understand and harness AI to unlock value and drive innovation.

Toward the end of FY25, we saw that the EU’s wavering stance 
on the Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive (CSRD) led 
many Norwegian businesses to slow down major transformation 
initiatives. This also temporarily impacted the demand for EY’s 
sustainability-related services. We view this as a natural response 
to regulatory uncertainty; however, we remain confident that 
transformation and sustainability will continue to be central to 
long-term business success, and we continue to invest accordingly.

Overall, EY Norway maintained stable operations and a strong 
financial foundation, reflecting both the resilience of our people 
and the trust of our clients. I am incredibly proud of what we have 
achieved together and would like to extend my heartfelt thanks to 
all EY Norway employees, partners and alliances. Your dedication 
and commitment make our success possible.  

Managing Partner

Letter from the Country 
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Our people, our clients, and our reach
EY is one of the world’s leading professional services firms 
within assurance, consulting, strategy transactions, tax and 
legal services. Our global network with approximately 400,000 
colleagues in over 150 countries fosters collaboration and trust, 
ensuring that our clients receive high-quality, forward-looking 
services focused on long-term value creation.

In Norway, we have 2,302 employees spread across 26 
geographical locations, serving clients that represent a broad 
cross-section of industries — from emerging start-ups to Norway’s 
largest listed companies. This diverse client base and national 
footprint make EY Norway a trusted advisor with deep knowledge 
of the Norwegian economy and business community.

Operating in a complex global environment
FY25 was shaped by high geopolitical tension, tariffs, inflationary 
pressures, and uncertainty in global supply chains. These trends 
— combined with a weaker Norwegian krone — have challenged 
businesses and constrained growth and investments. As trusted 
advisors, we have worked closely with clients to navigate this 
complexity, manage risks, and identify opportunities in an 
uncertain market landscape. 

The market around us is changing with several industry players 
restructuring or redefining their business. We are closely following 
these developments and analyzing the potential impact on our 
own business. Our integrated model across Norway with flexibility 
to share knowledge and resources across offices enables us to 
serve both large corporations and SMB clients. Maintaining close 
relationships with local communities and leverage the strength 
of EY’s national and global network to create long-term value for 
clients of all sizes. From this platform of strength, we will continue 
to assess how we can best position EY Norway to support our 
clients as their needs evolve.

Innovation and technology
The digital transformation continues to reshape our profession 
and the way we create value for our clients. After developing 
the EYQ AI platform last year, we have now introduced Copilot. 
Copilot helps our people work smarter, enabling them to focus on 
delivering deeper insights and higher value to clients.

Globally and in Norway, EY continues to make significant 
investments in artificial intelligence and emerging technologies 
to strengthen both our internal capabilities and the innovative 
solutions we provide to clients. These tools are transforming how 
we collaborate and deliver results.

People and culture – the heart of EY
Our people remain our greatest strength. We believe that different 
perspectives lead to better solutions, both within our teams and 
in collaboration with our clients. In FY25, our Employee Resource 
Groups (ERGs) joined forces to strengthen inclusion and belonging 
across EY Norway.

We were also proud to become the first company certified as 
a Bias-Free Recruiter by InClue AS which is a milestone in our 
ongoing work to ensure fair, inclusive and transparent recruitment 
processes. These efforts support our ambition to attract and 
develop the best talent to drive EY’s growth and success.

Arbab Dar
Country Managing Partner, EY Norway
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Highlights in numbers EY Norway
FY25 Revenue

5 086 MNOK
+1%FY24 

FY23

5 045 MNOK

4 556 MNOK

Revenue growth 
from FY24

People
People (headcount) in Norway

(+ 3% vs. FY24)
2302 

Tax & Law

Core Business Services
EY-Parthenon

Assurance

Consulting

48%
30-50

10%
over 50

Highlights on EY Norway’s sustainability journey

People pulse results from FY25

Verdantix Green Quadrant: 
ESG and Sustainability Consulting 2024

ISO 14 0001 environmental 
management certification

UN Global 
Compact 
member 

CDP
A List
2024

EY’s Global environmental 
targets approved by SBTi

Ecovadis 
Gold rating

2019
EY’s global 
corporate 
volunteering 
programme 
Ripples starts

2021
EY’s Global 
Environmental 
Strategy 
launched

2009
EY joins UN 
Global Compact 
globally

2021
SBTI approved 
emission 
targets

2021
EY’s Global 
TCFD reporting 
starts

2023
ET Norway’s first 
Human Rights 
Due Diligence 
report published

2024
EY Global joins 
TNFD as early 
adopter

2025
Updated EY Global 
Environmental 
Strategy updated 
in line with Paris 
agreement targets2024

EY’sAll In 
-strategy 
launched

2020
First EY Annual 
and Sustainability 
report published 
in Norway

2021
EY UN Global 
Compact 
member in 
Norway

45%
women

55%
Men

42%
below 30

44h
Average number of learning 
hours employees and partners

8116
Hours spent on EY 
Ripples projects

change -24% from FY24

Scope 1
Direct energy 
0 tCO2e

53%
Men

47%
Women

Highlights Commitments and 
recognitions

EY Norway’s CO2 emissions FY25

change -1% from FY24

10907
tCO2e

-3% from FY24*

-39% from FY19 baseline*
*baseline scopes: 1,2 + 3.5 and 3.6

Scope 3
Indirect emissions
10 864 tCO2e

5 tCo2e per FTE in FY25*
* including all material scopes

Emissions

Total emissions -
Location based

Scope 2
Indirect energy (market-based)
43 tCO2e

Employees 
and partners 

by gender

Gender
division in
leadership

roles

Age
division

47%

28%

12%

6% 6%

88%

76%
74%

73%
73%

73%

Mar-24 Jul-24 Nov-24 Apr-25

74%
72%

72%

89%
87%

89%
Feel free to be myself

Recognized and appreciated

Exceptional experience
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Sustainability Statement
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About this report

This report contains information about EY Norway’s sustainability 
performance, risk, strategy and governance for the fiscal 
year 2025 (FY25), between 1 July 2024 and 30 June 2025.
It comprises the consolidated report of Ernst & Young AS (EY 
Norway) and all affiliated entities. 

We hope with this report to ensure visibility and to report 
information which is significant for our impact, risk and 
opportunities in environmental and social aspects. 

As the EU Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive (CSRD)-
requirements are currently being reviewed as part of the EU 
Omnibus-proposal, this report has been prepared with inspiration 
from the CSRD-requirements and European Sustainability 
Reporting Standards (ESRS). For FY25 we have aimed to adapt to 
the fundamental structure of the standards and to integrate with 
other Norwegian requirements in the best way possible. EY has 
previously reported against the WEF-IBC framework but will not 
follow it in the future. As previous years EY Norway will cover the 
requirements of WEF-IBC and ensure alignment with this standard 
until CSRD is requirements are ready to be fully implemented.

”EY Norway’s financial statement is prepared in accordance with 
the Norwegian Accounting Act and related reporting requirements. 
EY Norway’s equality and anti-discrimination efforts in accordance 
with the Activity Duty and the Duty to Issue a Statement you may 
read here and our statement on due diligence assessment of 
human rights in accordance with the Transparency Act is detailed 
in a separate report published in June 2025. EY Norway also 
supports the UN Global’s 10 principles for sustainability within 
the themes: Respect for human rights, action for the environment 

and climate, and anti-corruption. EY Norway reports progress on 
the UN’s Sustainable Development Goals as part of EY Global. In 
addition, EY reports on climate risks and opportunities globally 
in accordance with the Task Force on Climate-related Financial 
Disclosure (TCFD) framework. For more information on TCFD, 
please see the EY Global Environmental report FY25.

We have not omitted any information in this report due to 
sensitivity. 

The annual financial statements and the sustainability report have 
been audited and assured by an external auditor. The attestation 
of the sustainability report has been conducted based on ISAE 
3000 ’Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of 
Historical Financial Information. EY Norway has also commited 
ourselves to Grønnvaskingsplakaten (”Greenwashing poster”), 
an initiative to promote accurate and trustworthy sustainability 
accounts and communication.

Significant changes in FY25 
This year, we have expanded our approach to scope 3 category 1 
Purchased Goods and Services, to include reporting on services 
in addition to goods. We have applied a hybrid method where we 
use company specific emission factors from our biggest vendors 
by spend, and factors from Eora Global MRIO for the rest of our 
purchases. Details are found in our principles for calculations, 
Appendix IV — Calculation Principles.

https://www.ey.com/no_no/about-us/corporate-responsibility/likestilling-inkludering-fy25
https://www.ey.com/en_gl/value-realized-annual-report
http://Eora Global MRIO
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Who we are

Ernst & Young AS, referred to in the report as EY Norway, is a 
limited liability company and an approved auditing firm organized 
in Oslo. Ernst & Young AS also owns 100% of the Norwegian limited 
liability companies EY Skye Consulting AS and Ernst & Young 
Compliance Services AS. Additionally, Ernst & Young Advokatfirma 
AS is a company within the EY network with cooperation and 
contractual relationships with EY Norway.

At the end of FY25 EY Norway had 2302 employees and partners 
across 26 offices throughout the country. Within EY, the Partners 
have a special responsibility, partly as active auditors and 
consultants and partly as business leaders.

For more information about EY’s legal structure, ownership, and 
responsibilities, please refer to our Transparency Report for the 
fiscal year 2025. 

How we create value

Our business model and value chain
EY Norway strives to create long-term value for our stakeholders. 
Enabled by data and technology, our services and solutions provide 
trust through assurance and help clients transform, grow and 
operate. Through our four integrated service lines — Assurance, 
Consulting, EY-Parthenon and Tax & Law, we support organizations 
in creating new value for their stakeholders too. At EY, we bring the 
All in mindset to everything we do — whether delivering financial 
and non-financial audits, helping clients turn complexity into 
competitive advantage, generating economic value or navigating 
tax and regulatory demands. By banking on our multi-disciplinary 
network, teaming across borders and investing purposefully, we’re 
shaping the future with confidence.

Value chain 
Upstream, EY’s value chain consists of the input that make 
our operation work. Our people, first and foremost, but also 
managing our talents, our offices, IT systems etc. delivered by key 
suppliers. Furthermore, it includes activities related to the sales 
and opportunity management of EY engagements and our service 
acceptance, covering contracts, independence and anti-money 
laundering processes etc. Our own operation relates to the actual 
client work delivered by EY employees, sometimes in collaboration 
with EY alliance partners. This phase also includes quality 
reviews and other consultations and adhering to all regulatory 
requirements. Downstream, we complete the delivery of our 
services to our clients who then implement and use our services. 
Once in use, our services may also impact the wider society.

Upstream DownstreamOur own operation

Core business 
services Client services Clients End-usersSuppliers Talent pool

https://www.ey.com/no_no/insights/assurance/eys-aapenhetsrapport-2025
https://www.ey.com/no_no/insights/assurance/eys-aapenhetsrapport-2025
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Assurance

1092 people 
Revenue: 2 093 725 TNOK 

In Assurance, we serve the public interest by promoting trust in 
business and capital markets, in turn supporting sustainable value 
creation. Thanks to global experience and innovative technology, 
our teams help clients navigate complex reporting standards.

Assurance services span five sub-service lines:
1.	Audit: Conduct high-quality, analytics-driven audits to promote 

transparency and investor confidence
2.	Financial Accounting Advisory Services (FAAS): Support in 

building efficient finance teams with a range of accounting, 
reporting and analytics services

3.	Climate Change and Sustainability Services (CCaSS): Help 
companies understand the risks and opportunities arising from 
climate change and sustainability issues

4.	Forensic and Integrity Services: Assist organizations to protect 
and restore enterprise and financial reputation and achieve 
integrity agenda

5.	Technology Risk: Offer audit, attestation, certification and 
assessment services to help companies identify and mitigate 
risk arising from the use of technology

Our service lines
Tax and Law

266 people 
Revenue: 876 750 TNOK 

At EY Tax and Law, we empower businesses in the Nordic region 
to navigate tax and legal complexities. Our expert team delivers 
insights and solutions for informed decision-making, compliance, 
and risk mitigation. By leveraging advanced technology and AI, 
we enhance our service delivery with real-time data analysis. 
Our globally coordinated approach ensures clients receive 
connected services across all tax disciplines. Additionally, our 
EY Sustainability Tax services assist organizations in integrating 
sustainability into their tax strategies.

Sub-service lines for Tax and Law Nordics include:
1.	Corporate Tax: Advisory services on corporate tax compliance, 

planning, and strategy to optimize tax positions and manage 
risks

2.	 Indirect Tax: Expertise in VAT, GST, and other indirect taxes, 
focusing on compliance, planning and dispute resolution

3.	Transfer Pricing: Assistance in developing and implementing 
transfer pricing policies and documentation to comply with local 
and international regulations

4.	People Advisory Services: Solutions for tax-related issues 
associated with workforce management and mobility

5.	International Tax: Support for cross-border tax issues, including 
tax treaties, repatriation strategies and global tax compliance

6.	Tax Technology: Implementation of technology solutions to 
enhance tax processes, compliance and reporting

7.	 Legal Services: Comprehensive legal support, including 
corporate law, contract law and regulatory compliance

Technology is at the heart of our transformation. EY has invested 
over US$1 billion in next-generation Assurance platforms, 
integrating AI at scale, advanced analytics and intuitive user 
experiences. Tools like EY Canvas, EY Helix and Intelligent 
Checklists empower our professionals to perform data-driven 
audits, detect fraud and streamline risk assessments. 

We’re working closely with clients to prepare for the EU Corporate 
Social Responsibility Directive (CSRD), which begins impacting 
our largest listed audit clients in 2024, with broader applicability 
from 2025. Our teams are guided by a robust System of Quality 
Management aligned with ISQM 1, ensuring consistency and 
objectivity in every engagement. With a culture rooted in integrity 
and continuous learning, EY Nordic Assurance is shaping the future 
of audit—one high-quality engagement at a time.
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EY-Parthenon

146 people  
Revenue: 516 046 TNOK

At EY-Parthenon, our unique combination of transformative 
strategy, transactions, tax and corporate finance delivers real-
world value – solutions that work in practice, not just on paper. 
With deep functional and sector expertise, paired with innovative 
AI-powered technology and an investor mindset, we partner with 
CEOs, boards, private equity and governments – enabling you to 
shape your future with confidence.

In March 2025, EY-Parthenon expanded globally to unify EY’s 
Strategy and Transactions service line under one powerful sub-
brand. This transformation empowers us to deliver end-to-end 
solutions—from strategic realignment and mergers & acquisitions to 
capital allocation and market entry—leveraging the full spectrum of 
EY services from tax to technology.

Sub-Service Lines under EY-Parthenon include: 
1.	Transactions and Corporate Finance
2.	Strategy and Execution 

AI is embedded across our global platforms. We lead the EY.ai 
Value Accelerator, a firm-wide foundational solution that identifies 
sector-specific opportunities and prioritizes initiatives using a 
simulated approach. Our AI-powered Edge suite—developed in 
collaboration with Microsoft and OpenAI—are revolutionizing how 
we deliver insights and outcomes. Tools like Competitive Edge, 
Diligence Edge, and Capital Edge enable us to provide clients with 
real-time intelligence, accelerated due diligence and streamlined 
transformation processes. These platforms are already enhancing 
value creation for thousands of clients globally and we are proud to 
bring their full potential to the Nordic market.

Consulting

651 people 
Revenue: 1 588 938 TNOK

In Consulting, we are transforming businesses through the power 
of people, technology and innovation. By placing humans at the 
center, leveraging technology at speed and enabling innovation at 
scale, our clients are transforming to realize long-term value for 
people, businesses and society.

Consulting has a full spectrum of transformative services to help 
clients:
1.	Business Consulting: Delivers transformations to drive growth 

and create sustainable long-term business value
2.	People Consulting: Helps our clients harness their people 

agenda – the right people, with the right capabilities, in the right 
place, for the right cost, doing the right things

3.	Risk Consulting: Mitigates risk and embraces disruption by 
transforming with confidence

4.	Technology Consulting: Enables future-proof IT with scalable 
technology

For FY25, the strategic initiatives for Nordic Consulting include: 
Transforming clients with AI 
1.	Strengthening our Managed Services footprint
2.	Positioning EY as a strategic advisor to CFO
3.	Expanding our sustainability offerings
4.	Developing risk capabilities 
5.	Shaping a business culture that is equipped for the future.

Our service lines

Technology@speed lies at the core of how we create value. 
We rapidly deploy emerging and cloud technologies to improve 
experiences, transform business models and fuel growth. We 
help clients align technology with strategy—focusing on AI, cloud, 
architecture and resilience for enterprise-wide transformation. 
We’re scaling AI across Consulting by onboarding leaders, tailoring 
solutions and bridging skill gaps to boost sales and delivery. EY.ai 
blends human insight with intelligent platforms like the Value 
Accelerator, Maturity Model and Confidence Index to modernize 
data and automate processes.

Additionally, EY Consulting aims to become the preferred 
sustainability transformation partner for companies in Nordics 
in their journey towards net zero emissions and nature positive 
business.

In addition EY Norway has internal functions, our Core 
Business Services, with 147 people (a decrease of 4 % from 
last year). They are a creative, curious advisory community of 
specialists who help our daily operations run efficiently and 
smoothly — contributing as an essential part of our overall 
business operations.
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Our purpose and strategy
EY is a global professional services network with around 400.000 
people in more than 150 geographic locations worldwide. EY 
Norway has 2302 employees and partners located in 26 offices 
across the country. They serve clients from the largest listed 
multinational companies to mid-size, SMEs and scale-ups across 
industries and sectors. 

Our purpose
The EY purpose “Building a better working world” has been the 
basis for our business model for many years. 

The insights and quality services we provide help build trust and 
confidence in the capital markets and in economies the world over. 
We develop outstanding leaders who team to help deliver on our 
promises to all our stakeholders. In so doing, we play a critical role 
in Building a better working world for EY people, for clients and for 

our communities. In a world that’s changing faster than ever, our 
purpose is our guide, providing the context and meaning for the 
work we do every day.

EY believes that a better working world is one where economic 
growth is sustainable and inclusive. We recognize our social and 
environmental responsibility and wish to make a real difference 
supported by EY’s global strategy. 

EY values
All EY people live by a set of shared values that define who we are. 
These values are fundamental to our culture. They influence our 
actions and behavior in meetings with colleagues and clients, but 
also how we engage with our communities. The EY Values remain 
integral to EY.

We are and will continue to be:

People who 
demonstrate 

integrity, respect, 
teaming and 
inclusiveness

People 
with energy, 

enthusiasm and 
the courage to 

lead

People  
who build 

relationships based 
on doing the right 

thing
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Our strategy — All in
EY’s global strategy “All In” was introduced in FY24. The All in 
strategy recognizes the increasingly complex and interconnected 
issues facing organizations worldwide and outlines how EY will 
address these challenges to fulfill its purpose Building a better 
working world.

The strategy also emphasizes the importance of working as one 
organization and being ’All in together’. Key areas of focus include 
enhancing collaboration within the global EY network, investing 
in growth areas such as transformation, managed services and 
sustainability, and accelerating the adoption of AI.

EY’s strategy All in equips us to create new value for EY people, 
clients, society and stakeholders against this backdrop of a fast-
changing world. All in is not only a name but an attitude, one that 
demonstrates a commitment to each other. We are convinced that 
collaboration across the diverse expertise within our company 
enhances our ability to solve our clients’ challenges successfully 
and make meaningful contributions to society. We believe in this 
so much, that we have put the phrase “Shape the future with 
confidence” in front and center alongside our logo. It reflects our 
unwavering commitment to helping clients navigate emerging 
challenges and opportunities as distinctive journey partners. At 
the same time, we see that our employees have the opportunity 
to actively contribute to shaping their future through a work 
environment where both professional and personal development 
are encouraged. 

Sustainability is a shared commitment to help shape a more 
promising business landscape. With the FY25 appointment of 
our new Global CEO, Janet Truncale, our new All In strategy puts 
sustainability at its core. Sustainability is one of our five “Big Bets” 
in the market, alongside transformation, audit, tech – data & AI, 
and managed services. ESG-related services are therefore central 

to our market approach and business operations. Investments for 
sustainability initiatives are approved annually alongside other 
investment needs for each function responsible for implementing 
these initiatives.

ESG-related services are key to our go-to-market strategy and how 
we conduct our business. EY has built extensive knowledge and 
expertise across the sustainability agenda globally, and we are 
delivering on the increasing market demands for these services. 
Thus, we have a large impact on how we help our clients and 
society to understand and navigate complex challenges via the 
services we deliver. 

Integrating sustainability  
into everything we do
EY aims to raise the bar for how we address sustainability matters 
in our own operations. We recognize that our responsibility to 
minimize the climate and environmental impact of EY’s business 
operations extends to EY people and clients and to the wider 
communities in which we all live. Similarly, we have a fundamental 
responsibility to address sustainability issues in our own operation 
focusing on EY people and living up to our Code of Conduct, and 
in our supply chain, which is where our Supplier Code of Conduct 
plays a vital role. By sharing our expertise with initiatives such 
as EY’s corporate social responsibility program EY Ripples, we 
can make a wider positive impact through the organizations we 
collaborate with by sharing our knowledge, skills and experience to 
address some of society’s toughest challenges.
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Our Corporate Governance
Ernst & Young AS is a private limited company organized in Oslo 
and is a member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited, a UK 
company limited by guarantee (EYG). For More information about 
EY Norways ownership and legal structure read the EY 2025 
Transparency Report — Norway.

EY Norway’s leadership
EY Norway is on a daily basis led by Arbab Dar 
(born 1984) who is the Country Managing Partner 
(CMP). He entered the position 1st of July 2024. 
He is a partner at EY Norway and leads the Nordic 
initiative for CFO advisory services, targeting the 

financial industry. Previously, Arbab served as the Chief Financial 
Officer at Nordea Bank Norway and Avida. Arbab is a results-driven 
leader with extensive experience in financial services, audit, 
advisory and executive management. He combines strong technical 
expertise with a commitment to inclusive leadership, striving to 
build organizations where individuals and teams thrive.

The daily management team of EY Norway consist of the CMP 
and the leaders for each of our service lines: Arbab Dar (Country 
Managing Partner), Magnus Hergetun Birkeland (Assurance), 
Helen Totland (Tax & Law), Nils Kristian Bø (EY-Parthenon), Kjetil 
Kristensen (Financial Services Organization) and Aina Karlsen Roed 
(Consulting). 

EY Norway’s leadership Board of Directors
For EY Norway, our top management body is our Board of 
Directors and our CMP (Country Managing Partner). The board 
consists of six EY partners and four employee representatives 
who are diverse in backgrounds, competencies, experience, 
business focus, seniority at EY, gender and age. Our CMP. For more 
information on EY Norways Board of Directors see Appendix V.

Liability insurance has been secured for the board members and 
the managing director to cover their potential liabilities to the 
company and third parties.

Board competencies
Mette 
Anett 

Granheim

Einar 
Hersvik

Aina 
Karlsen 

Røed

Ivar 
Vikasæter

Erik 
Richard 

Haagensen

Maria E 
Høyen

Maria G 
Strønstad

Stian 
Ellingsen

Tone  
Mari  

Flatland

Finn Ole 
Edstrøm

Top management

Finance, accounting, and financial reporting

Regulatory advisory

Risk management, laws and regulations

Client experience

Technology

Strategy planning / operations

Sustainability

Lean

Global enterprise and international relations

HR / Talent

Compliance / Internal control systems

https://www.ey.com/no_no/insights/assurance/eys-aapenhetsrapport-2025
https://www.ey.com/no_no/insights/assurance/eys-aapenhetsrapport-2025
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Double materiality assessment process
EY Norway has assessed its most important sustainability related 
impacts, risks and opportunities on people, the environment and 
society by conducting a thorough Double Materiality Assessment 
(DMA) in FY24 and has updated it in FY25.

EY Norway’s DMA follows the principle of double materiality as 
defined in the CSRD framework and the results disclose identified 
Impacts, Risks and Opportunities (IROs) that could affect EY’s 
ability to operate sustainably and responsibly over time. This 
process included collecting the necessary data by conducting desk 
top analysis, sector reviews, stakeholder engagement, as well as 
collecting already existing results from internal due diligence and 
risk assessments.

Five of the ten topical ESRS standards are deemed material in 
EY’s double materiality assessment. The table below illustrates 
the topics that are material to EY Norway. The material subtopics 
under each standard are presented along with the material IROs in 
the tables on the following sections. Detailed information about the 
IROs is given under the respective topical chapters.

EY continues to commit to transparency and sustainability and 
aligning our reporting practices with the evolving regulatory 
landscape.

See more detailed description of Double materiality assessment 
methodology and scoring in Appendix II

EY’s material impacts, risks and opportunities
Type of 
impact, risk or 
opportunity (IRO)

Actual/ potential 
impact

Value chain 
location*)

Time-horizon

 
E1: Climate change
Climate change mitigation

IRO 1: EY has a negative environmental impact from 
services and products throughout our value chain.

Negative impact Actual  Short, Medium, Long

 
S1: Own workforce
Working conditions

IRO 2: High workload and work intensity can negatively 
impact employees’ wellbeing, development and job 
satisfaction.

Negative impact Potential  Short 

IRO 3: Offering attractive and flexible working conditions 
can have a potential positive impact on our employees and 
their families by supporting work/life balance.

Positive impact Actual  Short 

IRO 4: EY could face legal, reputational and financial 
risks if we did not comply with legal requirements for 
employees’ rest and leisure time.

Financial risk  Short 

IRO 5: Strengthening employees’ professional 
development, self-management skills and promoting 
good leadership can improve the attractiveness of EY 
to employees and maintain competitive advantage with 
clients in the market.

Financial opportunity Actual  Short, Medium 

IRO 6: Offering employees flexibility through our hybrid 
working model, insurances and employee benefits is 
an opportunity for EY to strengthen our position as an 
attractive employer.

Financial opportunity  Short 

Equal pay and opportunities for all

IRO 7: EY positively impacts employees by working to 
create a level playing field with equal pay and equal 
opportunities for growth and development for all.

Positive impact Actual  Short, Medium 

EY’s material sustainability impacts, risks and opportunities
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Type of 
impact, risk or 
opportunity (IRO)

Actual/ potential 
impact

Value chain 
location*)

Time-horizon

IRO 8: Due to gender imbalance at leadership level, we 
recognize a potential negative impact on diversity in our 
workforce.

Negative impact Potential  Short 

IRO 9: By ensuring a culture where everyone feels safe to 
voice their views and raise concerns, EY has a potential 
positive impact on our employee’s performance and 
wellbeing.

Positive impact Actual  Short 

IRO 10: Failure to foster a diverse and inclusive culture 
could pose a risk to EY’s ability to meet client demands for 
diverse perspectives and attract and retain a competitive 
workforce.

Financial risk  Medium, Long 

IRO 11: By ensuring our leadership has the necessary 
skills to enable an inclusive environment, we have an 
opportunity for continued success.

Financial opportunity  Short, Medium 

 
S2: Value chain workers
Working conditions

IRO 12: By maintaining a strong relationship with 
suppliers, EY is potentially able to influence decent 
working conditions and the wellbeing of workers in the 
value chain.

Positive impact Potential  Short, Medium 

IRO 13: Working in large global teams and in teams that 
include subcontractors and workers abroad, increase 
the risk of reputational damage, should EY fail to ensure 
workers’ wellbeing, health and security.

Financial risk  Short, Medium 

Other worker related rights — Human rights

IRO 14: EY may face financial and reputational damage if 
we do not comply with laws and regulations that protect 
human rights in the value chain 

Financial risk  Short, Medium 

 
S4: Consumers and end-users
Information related to impact for consumers and/or end-users

IRO 15: Through our service delivery and expertise, 
EY positively impacts society by delivering quality 
information that drive sustainable business practices.

Positive impact  Short, Medium, Long 

IRO 16: Should EY deliver poor quality or misinformation 
we could face financial, legal and reputational risks

Financial risk  Short, Medium, Long 

IRO 17: A breach of personal or client data and privacy 
could subject EY to potential risks, including legal claims, 
proceedings, and reputational damage.

Financial risk  Short, Medium 

IRO 18: There is a short term risk of loss of revenue from 
reduced demand for ESG related engagements due to 
regulatory changes and political climate; though in the 
longer term there is a financial opportunity in businesses 
need for transformation and adaption to a more volatile 
world both in regards to impacts of climate change, 
conflicts and radical changes in the political landscape.

Financial 
Opportunity

 Short, Medium, Long

Type of 
impact, risk or 
opportunity (IRO)

Actual/ potential 
impact

Value chain 
location*)

Time-horizon

 
G1: Business conduct
Corporate culture

IRO 19: Upholding a corporate culture of quality, 
compliance and ethics positively impacts the industry by 
fostering reliability and trust in capital markets. 

Positive impact Actual  Short, Medium, Long 

IRO 20: Failure to adhere to EY’s Code of Conduct and 
quality standards may lead to reputational damage, 
litigation, penalties and loss of authorization to perform 
audits.

Financial risk  Short, Medium, Long 

Corruption and bribery

IRO 21: EY is committed to adhering to all applicable anti-
bribery and corruption laws in the jurisdictions where we 
operate. Failure to comply with these laws could expose 
EY to risks, including fines, reputational harm, and 
potential prosecution.

Financial risk  Short, Medium, Long 

IRO 22: Proactively preventing corruption and money 
laundering maintain and protect trust in EY’s ethical 
standards and integrity, which supports long term 
business relationships.

Financial opportunity  Short, Medium 

Protection of whistleblowers

IRO 23: Accessible and trustworthy whistleblowing 
channels and effective whistleblower protection may 
increase trust and confidence in EY and have a positive 
impact for EY’s employees and other stakeholders.

Positive impact Actual  Short 

IRO 24: Failure to protect whistleblowers in a timely and 
proper manner can lead to mistrust among employees 
and other stakeholders and expose EY to both legal and 
reputational risk. 

Financial risk  Short, Medium

IRO 25: EY may face legal and reputational risk if we fail 
to uphold decent payment conditions respecting vendor’s 
payment terms. 

Financial risk  Short, Medium

*)  Upstream  Own operations    Downstream
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EY Norway Sustainability 
Roadmap FY25

Principles of Governance Planet People Prosperity

High-level 
ambition

Become the most trusted professional  
services firm

Protect the planet to support the needs of current  
and future generations

Empower EY people to build their own 
exceptional EY experiences

Build a better working world in the communities  
where we live and work

FY25
targets & focus 
areas

Code of Conduct and anti-
corruption training, 100%

Signed CoC & 
Independence 100%

Suppliers agreed 
to Supplier Code of 
Conduct, 100%

ReduceGHG emissions**, 
-40% vs. FY19 Scope 1, 
2 + 3.5 & 3.6

Limit EY Nordics’ air 
travel emissions to 
6,000 tCO2e per year*

Decrease share of non-
recyclable waste

Even gender distribution, 
40%-60% either way

Exceptional experience at 
EY, 80% of EY people

Exceptional Client Service 1000 volunteers in EY Ripples*

Actions Require Code of 
Conduct training and 
annual Independence 
confirmation from EY 
people

Implement ESG due 
diligence in supply chain

Implement the EY 
seven-point action plan 
to reach Net Zero in 
FY25** Actions through 
ISO 14001:15 EMS-
system

Implement EY Nordics 
travel guidelines

Improve waste sorting 
and ensure energy 
efficiency in all offices.

Ensure a fair 
representation 
in promotion and 
recruitment rate

Support competence 
development

Implement programs 
to build resilience and 
monitor working hours to 
support wellbeing

Investment in learning Encourage and engage employees to 
participate in EY Ripples volunteering

Progress FY25
Final year

99% completed CoC-
training

100% signed annual 
independence 
confirmation.

EY Global supplier DD 
process **

Followed up key suppliers 
in Human Rights DD

Reduces EY Norways 
emissions with 39% 
compared to 2019 
baseline Scope 1, 2 + 
3.5 & 3.6

EY Norway reduced 
air travel with 40% and 
emitted 3231 tCO2e in 
FY25

Reduced kg. waste with 
65% compared to 2020

Share of recyclable 
waste 45%

Women–men: 

All employees 47%-53%

Leadership

45%-55%

Partners 

25%-75%

Board of Directors:

50%-50%

72 % of EY people 
agree that they have an 
expectional experience 
at EY

Norwegian education investment 
totaled to 17 mill NOK

More than 200 participants devoted 
more than 8000 hours to EY Ripples

*Nordic-wide targets 
**Initiatives driven by EY Global
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Stakeholder  
engagement
EY Norway’s DMA is a thorough process that identifies key issues 
by actively engaging a wide range of stakeholders, including 
employees, clients, owners, suppliers, and external experts. 
Stakeholder engagement helps determine which material topics 
Norway needs to address through our business strategy and 
thereby which sustainability matters we should disclose in our 
sustainability report, ensuring that the assessment reflects 
the concerns and expectations of both internal and external 
stakeholders.

The variety of stakeholders we engage with cover a wide 
spectrum of demographics and roles within the company. This 
diversity was intentional, aiming to capture different opinions 
from various departments, countries, genders, ages, roles, 
and levels of influence. The types of dialogues we conducted 
were tailored to the stakeholder group to maximize the 
relevance and effectiveness of the engagement. Building on the 
discussions held in FY24, we expanded our efforts in FY25 by 
involving additional layers of management, further embedding 
responsibility and accountability for these matters throughout 
the organization.

Own workforce and future talent
EY’s most important asset is our employees, and 
their wellbeing is of central value for the work 
performed for clients.

Engagement
Two times a year, EY invites all employees to fill out 
the People Pulse survey. The survey is designed to 
gauge the workforce’s sentiments and suggestions 
for improvement. We also looked beyond our 
immediate network to include experts and critics, 
analyzing public articles and news to gather external 
opinions that could provide an objective view of our 
operations. The perspectives of future employees 
were also considered conversations, the Universum 
Global Survey, and the Universum Student Ranking. 
These interactions were valuable for understanding 
the aspirations and expectations of the future 
workforce, ensuring that we remain aligned with 
emerging trends and talents.

Clients
The relationships we build with our clients are at the core of our business.

Engagement
To ensure we include input from our clients in the peer review used in DMA, we 
gathered input from tender processes and criteria as well as questionnaires 
sent from clients to EY. This material covers selected ESG areas that are key to 
our clients when dealing with us. At the same time, we interviewed EY Global 
Client Service Partners in the Nordics on their experiences from engaging with 
key clients. This method allows us insight into key areas of interest from client 
viewpoints.

Owners
EY is owned by its partners.

Engagement 
Key partners from EY Norway joined collaborative 
sessions that facilitated discussions on potential 
challenges and strategies for risk mitigation as 
well as risks and opportunities for EY. Participants 
included our Board of Directors, our CEO and our 
lead for EY’s Climate Change and Sustainability 
Services (CCaSS) who are all experienced partners 
at EY Norway.

Suppliers
EY’s key suppliers include office facilities and maintenance, IT 
and other suppliers.

Engagement 
We conducted interviews with vendors, such as ISS, who is one 
of our largest vendors, to understand their experiences and 
identify areas for collaboration and improvement. This direct 
dialogue is essential for maintaining strong partnerships and 
ensuring that our supply chain operates smoothly and ethically.

Silent stakeholders
Environment and other silent stakeholders.

Engagement
For this DMA the silent stakeholders (climate 
and nature) were represented by subject matter 
experts in EY, with competency on climate and 
nature.

Stakeholder 
engagement
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Sustainability governance

We drive the sustainability agenda with a unified approach both 
on global and Nordic level. In Norway, the corporate sustainability 
lead (CSL) is working closely with the other Nordic EY firms from a 
strategic and operational aspect in close cooperation with relevant 
function leaders like Talent (HR), Risk and Facility Management. 

In EY Norway, the CSL reports to the Norwegian leadership 
consisting of the Country Managing Partner and the Norwegian 
Operational Executives with representatives from each Service 
Line. Sustainability matters and target performance are discussed 
at minimum in bi-annual meetings. The Board of Directors is 
ultimately responsible for our sustainability disclosures.

To structure our work on environmental topics EY firms in the 
Nordics have an Environmental Management System (EMS) 
certified according to the ISO 14001 standard in EY Norway, 
Norway, Finland and Sweden. The Operational Executive for EY 
firms in the Nordics coordinates initiatives and goals and country 
leadership is responsible for setting the agenda and decision 
making for EY country specific targets and progress. The EMS is 
our system for structure of follow-up on climate transition.

Our system of governance allows leadership to evaluate the 
climate-related business requirements and integrate risks and 
opportunities into strategy and decision-making. Our internal 
reporting processes drive progress as we track our carbon 
ambition regularly to make any needed adjustments accordingly.

Internal controls over sustainability reporting
At EY Norway we have established an internal control for how we 
gather data and develop our annual sustainability report. This has 
been established to ensure the quality of our data and to ensure 
an oversight of our sustainability progress in our administrative, 
management and supervisory bodies. Our risk management and 
internal controls regarding sustainability reporting is based on 
collaboration between different functions. The data that is needed 
for the sustainability report is provided from different functions in 
the organization such as finance, payroll, human resources, facility 
management, risk management, independence etc. Each function 
is responsible for the quality of the data provided. Our corporate 
sustainability lead (CSL) is reviewing all data that has been 
provided. Before the report is externally audited, management and 
the board of directors reads through and does the final checks for 
all parts of the report.
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IRO 16: Risk management, quality 
control and due diligence
As we strive to be the leading professional services organization 
in our chosen markets, we take and manage risks to develop 
innovative services and expand into new markets and industries

We operate in a dynamic market. The continuously evolving 
business, regulatory and economic conditions not only present 
new opportunities but may also challenge the relevance of EY /
Norway/’s services and may impact achieving our strategies, 
objectives and success of initiatives. Governing risks is key to 
ensuring we have sufficient oversight. By clearly articulating 
desired behaviors and related accountabilities, the governance 
structure helps to enable EY Norway to identify relevant risks in 
a timely and consistent manner and allows for better coordinated 
and more effective responses. 

At EY Norway, we have implemented robust risk management 
and due diligence processes across our entire value chain. From 
the suppliers we engage with to our client acceptance and service 
delivery model, identifying and mitigating risks lies at the core of 
our operations.

The main areas where EY Norway conducts due diligence 
processes are linked to our business operations and ensuring 
high quality standards and adherence to legal requirements. In 
particular for a consulting and audit firm, we have strict routines 
and controls to ensure we are independent auditors. You may 
read more details on our quality controls and risk management 
connected to Audit and assurance in the EY Norway Transparency 
report 2025. 

Find more detailed descriptions of our due diligence processes 
related to clients and business relationships in Appendix III. EY’s 
Human rights due diligence process is described in sections S1 
Own employees and S2 Workers in value chain, and most details 
can be found in the full account of EY Norway’s Human Rights Due 
Diligence.

https://www.ey.com/no_no/insights/assurance/eys-aapenhetsrapport-2025
https://www.ey.com/no_no/insights/assurance/eys-aapenhetsrapport-2025
https://www.ey.com/en_no/about-us/corporate-responsibility/human-rights
https://www.ey.com/en_no/about-us/corporate-responsibility/human-rights
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E1 Climate Change
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Assessing impacts, risks and opportunities

Summary

At EY, we acknowledge that climate change poses one of the most significant threats to our planet and its inhabitants. As 
a global leader in audit and consulting services, we are aware of our responsibility to address this global challenge. Our 
commitment to climate action is not limited to our own operations: we also empower our clients to make sustainable choices, 
helping to build a better working world through our value-driven approach. 

Policies: 

	� EY Nordic Environmental policy
	� EY Nordic Travel Policy (internal) 
	� EY Global Supplier Code of Conduct
	� Nordic Green Event Guidelines (Internal)

Impacts, risk and opportunities: 

IRO 1: EY has a negative environmental impact from services and 
products throughout our value chain.

Targets 

Reduce absolute GHG emissions by 

40% 
across Scopes 1, 2, and 3 by FY25 against a FY19 baseline

39%
reduction

Reduce air travel emissions by a 

50% 
by FY25 against a FY19 baseline 

40%
reduction

Reduce office electricity usage and procuring 

100% 
renewable electricity for our remaining needs via certificates

100% 
 renewable electricity procured

Reduce waste generation, increasing the share of recyclable 
material and encouraging reuse.

Recyclability rate 

44%
reduced total amount of waste by

65%
since 2020

Progress FY25 

https://www.ey.com/content/dam/ey-unified-site/ey-com/en-gl/about-us/diversity-and-inclusiveness/documents/ey-supplier-code-of-conduct-2025.pdf
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Our targets for change
E1–1 Transition plan for climate change mitigation
EY Global has set ambitious climate change-related targets 
validated by the Science Based Targets initiative (SBTi) in January 
2021, and updated in 2025. Our initial goal was to achieve a 40% 
reduction in absolute GHG emissions across Scopes 1, 2, and 3 by 
FY25, using FY19 as the baseline. This target aligns with the 1.5°C 
reduction pathway outlined in the 2015 Paris Agreement. 

As our current environmental ambition expires along with our 
Science Based Target in the end of calendar year 2025, we will 
report progress against this target in this report. At the same time, 
we prepare to look ahead and take the next steps to continue our 
work to reduce our emissions.

In 2024, EY Global launched an updated Environment Strategy, 
following up on progress towards 2025 and looking ahead setting 
new ambitions for emissions reductions towards 2030. 

While the details for each member firm on these targets are still 
preliminary, the overall ambition for EY Globally is to further 
reduce emissions to 50% in FY2030 against a FY19 baseline 
following a 1.5-degree pathway for scopes 1, 2 and 3. This includes 
a further 25% reduction in Scope 3 emissions from FY24 to FY30. 
On this basis, EY Global has submitted a new target to the SBTi. 
In EY Norway, we will report against this target from FY26. Read 
more about EY Global’s updated climate strategy published in 
October FY26 here.

To meet our target, EY Norway aims to:
	� Reduce air travel emissions: Targeting a 50% reduction by 

FY25 against our FY19 baseline. In FY25 EY Norway has 
managed to reduce air travel emissions by 40% against  
FY19 baseline.

	� Reduce emissions from purchased goods and services: 
Enhancing emissions reporting accuracy, procuring more 
sustainable products and services, and improving lifecycle 
management of high-emission items such as IT equipment and 
furniture.

	� Reduce office electricity usage: Procuring 100% renewable 
energy for our remaining needs via certificates.

	� Reduce waste generation: Increasing the share of recyclable 
material and encouraging reuse.

We are continuously investing in better tools and processes for 
data collection and calculation to improve reporting in line with the 
Greenhouse Gas Protocol and provide better insights for strategic 
decision making. 

EY does not own significant assets, as we lease all our office 
spaces and vehicles. Therefore, we do not report on any locked-in 
emissions.

In FY25, EY Norway reduced overall emissions by 39% compared 
to FY19, keeping us on track to meet our science-based target by 
FY25. For more information on actions taken across each scope 
and category, please see page 27.

Purchased goods and services and capital goods are two 
categories that were added during the FY24 annual report. These 
categories were not part of our original Science Based target – but 
will be part of our new target. Therefore, we are not including it 
in the comparison numbers for this year but will be doing it from 
FY26.

Looking at EY’s full climate account, purchased goods and services 
and capital goods are the primary contributors to our emissions, 
with business travel and employee commuting also representing 
significant impacts of our carbon footprint. Working with our 
purchases and air travel are our key decarbonization levers going 
forward.

We ensure that our Transition plan is embedded in our business 
strategy and financial planning. We do this by dedicating human 
resources from in-house experts from various EY functions, 
continuing leading our internal environmental work with certified 
environmental management system (ISO14001) and globally 
investing beyond value chain in carbon offset portfolio.

Environmental policies
EY’s commitment to sustainability is embodied in our policies, 
which provide guidance for our operations and interactions 
with suppliers. The EY Nordic Environmental Policy serves as a 
foundational framework for our environmental initiatives across 
Nordics. This policy focuses on minimizing our environmental 
impact and supports the transition to a low-carbon economy, in line 
with EY’s global carbon ambition. It establishes the basis for our 
environmental work, with the Country Managing Partner bearing 
ultimate responsibility for its implementation.

Our Supplier Code of Conduct sets forth the standards we 
expect from our suppliers, emphasizing compliance with 
laws, environmental sustainability, human rights, and ethical 
business practices. Suppliers are encouraged to adopt high 
standards in their operations and supply chains, ensuring they 
contribute positively to our shared sustainability goals. This code 
underscores the importance of environmental risk management, 

waste reduction, and the use of sustainable materials, while also 
promoting diversity and inclusiveness within supplier relationships.

The EY Nordic Travel Policy, updated in FY24, aims to promote 
sustainable travel practices. It encourages alternative methods 
of travel and supports our hybrid working model, which reduces 
unnecessary travel. The policy outlines principles for travel 
planning, such as prioritizing virtual meetings, choosing train travel 
when feasible, and booking economy class for shorter trips. This 
policy aims to align travel decisions with our sustainability goals.

Collectively, these policies guide our efforts to achieve our 
environmental targets, foster responsible business practices, and 
support the creation of long-term value for our stakeholders.

https://www.ey.com/en_gl/insights/sustainability/how-will-action-today-shape-the-future-of-climate-and-nature
https://www.ey.com/en_gl/insights/sustainability/how-will-action-today-shape-the-future-of-climate-and-nature
https://www.ey.com/en_gl/insights/sustainability/how-will-action-today-shape-the-future-of-climate-and-nature
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Greenhouse gas emissions
EY Nordics performed a full greenhouse gas emissions analysis 
during FY24 to determine all relevant scope 3 categories for EY. 
This was done to ensure we provide the full picture in EY’s GHG 
reporting. Relevant scope 3 emission categories for EY include: 

	� Purchased goods and services (3.1) 
	� Capital goods (3.2)
	� Fuel and energy-related services (3.3)
	� Waste (3.5)
	� Business travel (3.6)
	� Employee commuting (3.7) 

At EY Nordics, categories 5 and 6 (waste and air travel) have 
been the basis for the 40% reduction target from FY19 to FY25 in 
scope 3. Since FY23, we have reported additionally on category 7 
(commuting), and from FY24 onwards we also include categories 
1 (purchased goods and services) and 2 (capital goods) and 3 (fuel 
and energy-related services). More on our calculation principles in 
the Appendix: IV

E1-5 Energy consumption and mix
Energy Consumption FY19-FY25

Unit 2019 (baseline) 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Purchased electricity MWh 4,212.2 3,678.0 2,745.3 3,224.7 3,018.6  1778,0 2071,0

Renewable MWh - - - 3,224.7 3,018.6 1778,0 2071,0

Non-renewable MWh 4,212.2 3,678.0 2,745.3 - - -  -

District Heating MWh 2,131.5 2,079.8 2,307.4 2,495.1 2,084.3 1597,9 1184,0

Total MWh 6,343.7 5,757.8 5,052.7 5,719.8 5,102.9 3375,9 3255,0

E1-6 Gross Scopes 1, 2, 3 and Total GHG emissions
Greenhouse gas emissions 2019–2025

Unit 2019 (baseline) 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Total emissions (location based) tCO2e 5,672.0 4,482.2 189.1 1,243.4 4,523.4 6,559.1 10,906.8

Total emissions (market based) tCO2e 7,296.9 5,905.1 1,240.1 1,208.5 4,466.0 6,532.1 10,882.8

Emission per mNOK revenue tCO2e/MNOK 1.8 1.4 0.0 0.3 1.0 1.3  2.1

Emissions per FTE (incl. partners) tCO2e/FTE 3.6 2.6 0.1 0.7 2.2 2.3 5.2

Scope 1 – Direct emissions tCO2e - - - - - -

Scope 2 – Indirect emissions (location based) tCO2e 87.5 69.4 79.9 61.7 73.4 43.2 42.6

Electricity tCO2e 71.6 62.5 46.7 35.5 57.4 27.0 24.0

District heating tCO2e 15.8 6.8 33.2 26.2 16.0 16.2 18.6

Scope 2 – Indirect emissions (market based) tCO2e 1,712.4 1,492.3 1,130.9 26.8 16.0 16.2 18.6

Electricity tCO2e 1,693.3 1,478.6 1,103.6  - - -  

District heating tCO2e 19.1 13.7 27.3 26.8 16.0 16.2 18.6

Scope 3 – Other indirect emissions tCO2e 5,584.5 4,412.8 109.2 1,181.7 4,450.0 6,515.9 10,864.2

1.Purchased goods and services tCO2e 1,045.0 6,157.0

2. Capital Goods tCO 2e 816.6 1,072.0 366.0

3. Fuel and energy-related emissions tCO2e 3.6 2.2

5. Waste from operations tCO2e no data 74.2 29.1 28.1 2.3 0.4 0.3

6. Business travel tCO2e 5,584.5 4,338.6 80.1 1,153.6 2,568.9 3,526.2 3,421.2

7. Commuting tCO2e 706.2 560.1 643.8

7. Working from home tCO2e 318.3 308.5 273.7
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EY Norges bane mot 1.5-gradersmålet i 2025

Target:
-40%

  Enhet 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Scope 1, 2 + 3.5 & 3.6 tCO2e 5,672.0 4,482.2 189.1 1,243.4 2,682.3 3,569.9 3,465.1

New scopes 3.1, 3.2, 3.7           1,841.1 2,989.3 7,442.7 

-39% CO2
emissions

EY Norway’s trajectory to 1.5-degree target in FY25
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Actions
E1-3 Actions to reduce scope 2
We have committed to purchasing renewable energy certificates 
(RECs) to cover all of our electricity consumption. This initiative 
ensures that the electricity we use comes from renewable sources, 
such as wind, solar, and hydro power. By investing in RECs, we 
are not only reducing our carbon footprint but also supporting 
the growth and development of the renewable energy market. 
This aligns with our sustainability goals and demonstrates our 
commitment to environmental stewardship. Our dedication to 
renewable energy helps us to minimize our impact on the planet 
and promote a cleaner, greener future for all.

We have been working on consolidating our footprint and when 
relocating to new offices, we prioritize energy-efficient buildings 
with, for example, LEED Platinum certificates. In 2024, we 
relocated the Oslo headquarters to a significantly more energy 
efficient building which has positively reduced our energy 
consumption from previous years. We continue to work with our 
facility service provider on initiatives to further reduce our energy 
consumption.

E1-3 Actions to reduce scope 3 
Category 1 Purchased goods and services 
Building on our global supplier engagement strategy, EY continues 
to take targeted actions to reduce emissions associated with 
purchased goods and services. Our global team has developed 
tailored action plans for key suppliers, including direct engagement 
through meetings to support progress toward validated Science 
Based Targets.

In the Nordic region, we are actively reaching out to our highest-
spend suppliers to obtain real emissions data. This enables us 
to apply the hybrid method for emissions accounting, moving 
beyond spend-based estimates to more accurate, activity-based 
calculations. We are also continuing our collaboration with major 
partners to secure granular data and prioritize procurement of 
goods with a lower carbon footprint.

Category 2  |  Capital goods
Capital goods represent the 3.4% share of EY Norway’s emissions 
in FY25. The biggest categories in capital goods include computer 
and electronic products and furniture. This emission category vary 
a lot year-on-year depending on cycles for renewing technology 
and relocation of offices. In the future, we aim to transition to a 
more activity-based calculation methodology which we expect will 
give a more accurate picture of our emissions in the category of 
capital goods and aid us to drive improvements initiatives in the 
most impactful way.

Category 5  |  Waste and recycling
Waste represents a very small share of our CO2-emissions, but we 
work to reduce our waste generation and recycle waste as material 
in each office. We calculate the amount of waste generated for EY 
Norway based on the three biggest offices where we have data. 

In FY25, waste generation in tons decreased by 25% in these three 
offices compared to FY24, due to ongoing awareness campaigns 
and active waste reduction initiatives managed by our facility 
services. 

At EY Norway, we use a large number of IT devices which can 
potentially end up as electronic waste without a well-managed 
disposal system in place. Therefore, we contract with an IT asset 
disposal service that collects our used IT devices and refurbishes 
them for a second life cycle or recycles them to recover materials. 
With electronic equipment, we encourage our employees in need 
of a new phone to opt for a pre-used phone to extend the life of our 
current devices.

Category 6  |  Business travel 
EY Norway is taking concrete steps to reduce air travel emissions 
as part of its broader commitment to sustainability. Business 
travel emissions are primarily driven by air travel, which accounts 
for ca. 30% of EY Norway’s emissions. From FY19 to FY25, air 
travel emissions have decreased by 40%, indicating that we did not 
meet our target to reduce air travel with 50% in the period 2019-
2025, but we are on a good trajectory. Despite a rise in client-
related travel, there has been a cross-company effort to reduce 
internal travel and host environmentally sustainable learning and 
teaming events. The EY Travel Policy encourages the use of public 
transport for journeys under six hours and limits business class to 
long-distance flights only. We actively promote digital meetings 
to minimize our carbon footprint, and the post-pandemic shift 
to virtual collaboration has made it easier to balance physical 
meetings with digital catch-ups — both internally and with EY clients 
across the Nordics. To support informed travel choices, we’ve 
introduced a tool that compares emissions across different modes 
of transport and regularly communicate reminders to fly only when 
necessary. Additionally, we monitor travel patterns and report 
quarterly to the leadership team on air travel emissions and related 
spending. On a global level, EY has procured Sustainable Aviation 
Fuel (SAF) to offset approximately 5% of air travel emissions.

Category 7  |  Commuting and homeworking 
FY23 was the first year we reported on employee commuting and 
remote work. Calculations are made through an annual employee 
study taking place in April.

We have introduced several local initiatives to encourage 
employees to ride their bikes to work, including providing facilities 
such as showers and bike sheds. Our calculation methodology for 
homeworking has been updated, now utilizing more local energy 
data, which will reflect a decrease in emissions figures. We support 
hybrid working models that reduce commuting emissions but 
recognize they contribute to homeworking emissions.

GHG removals and GHG mitigation projects 
financed through carbon credits
As a professional service firm, using carbon credits to offset our 
remaining emissions can be an effective approach to address 
climate change. With limited physical assets and no production 
sites, we use offsetting to contribute to carbon reduction efforts. 
However, this does not exempt us from decarbonizing our value 
chain. 

EY Global is continuing to invest in a carbon offset portfolio with 
leading project developers and global climate solution providers. 
Each member firm receives a portion of these offsets, and for 
EY Norway an equivalent of 7 247 tCO2e offset credits and SAF 
certificates covering 3 950 tCO2e, were allocated. All global 
projects adhere to high standards regarding quality; they are 
independently verified, additional, permanent, not used for other 
purposes, and will not result in leakage. 
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S1 Own Workforce
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S1 People – Own Workforce

Summary

At EY, we recognize that our employees are our most valuable asset, and their wellbeing is the cornerstone of our social sustainability efforts. We understand that our employees’ overall 
satisfaction is closely linked to their working conditions. We are deeply committed to making our vision of a better working world a reality by setting strategic, people-focused targets that 
challenge us to reach new heights of inclusivity, employee wellbeing, professional growth, and ethical integrity. EY supports and advocates continuous learning and development, and we want all 
of our employees to feel appreciated, respected and fairly treated with appropriate compensation and good benefits.and advocates continuous learning and development, and we want all of our 
employees to feel appreciated, respected and fairly treated with appropriate compensation and good benefits. 

Policies:
	� EY Code of conduct
	� Health and wellbeing guidelines (internal) 

Impacts, risk and opportunities:
Working conditions.

IRO 2: High workload and work intensity can negatively impact 
employees’ wellbeing, development and job satisfaction.

IRO 3: Offering attractive and flexible working conditions can have 
a potential positive impact on our employees and their families by 
supporting work/life balance.

IRO 4: EY could face legal, reputational and financial risks if we did 
not comply with legal requirements for employees’ rest and leisure 
time.

IRO 5: Strengthening employees’ professional development, self-
management skills and promoting good leadership can improve 
the attractiveness of EY to employees and maintain competitive 
advantage with clients in the market.

IRO 6: Offering employees flexibility through our hybrid working 
model, insurances and employee benefits is an opportunity for EY 
to strengthen our position as an attractive employer.

Equal pay and opportunities for all

IRO 7: EY positively impacts employees by working to create a level 
playing field with equal pay and equal opportunities for growth and 
development for all.

IRO 8: Due to gender imbalance at leadership level, we recognize a 
potential negative impact on diversity in our workforce.

IRO 9: By ensuring a culture where everyone feels safe to voice 
their views and raise concerns, EY has a potential positive impact 
on our employee’s performance and wellbeing.

IRO 10: Failure to foster a diverse and inclusive culture could 
pose a risk to EY’s ability to meet client demands for diverse 
perspectives and attract and retain a competitive workforce.

IRO 11: By ensuring our leadership has the necessary skills to 
enable an inclusive environment, we have an opportunity for 
continued success.

Targets 

40%-60% 
women at leadership level in 2025

45%
women at leadership level in 2025

People Pulse: 

80% 
agree that their EY experience is exceptional 

72%
agree that their experience is exceptional

Progress FY25 

	� Inclusion and Non-discrimination Global Policy (internal) 
	� Hybrid working policy (internal)

https://www.ey.com/en_no/about-us/global-code-of-conduct
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Policies for our people

At EY Norway, we have implemented comprehensive policies and 
processes that guide the identification, assessment, management, 
and remediation of material impacts on our workforce. Our 
policies cover everything from work environment, remuneration 
and diversity. Our employees have access to all workforce and 
value chain-related policies via our Nordic Intranet — EY Help 
Nordic. The EY Global Code of Conduct is the cornerstone of our 
corporate culture, ensuring ethical business practices across the 
organization. It provides clear principles that all employees are 
expected to follow, and EY firmly rejects any behavior that deviates 
from these professional standards, including discrimination and 
unethical practices. The responsibility for implementing workforce-
related policies rests with our CEO and HR leadership. These 
policies, along with various programs and initiatives, are designed 
to create a collaborative and supportive environment for every 
member of EY.

Processes for engagement with our 
workforce
In EY Global and EY Norway, we have several channels and 
methods to ensure healthy conversations between our employees 
and management; and between EY management and our external 
stakeholders. We engage and communicate with our employees 
in several ways — both directly, using surveys, the work done in 
our firmwide fora with employee representatives, and through our 
communities of interest. The cornerstone of direct communication 
and engagement is the counselor structure. From day one all 
employees are allocated at least one dedicated contact person 
in the organization. The counselor is responsible for supporting 
the career and professional development of the employee and 
for supporting his/her counselee’s general wellbeing. We have 
numerous surveys, the primary vehicle in this space is the EY 
People Pulse which is run two times a year to solicit feedback on 
engagement and wellbeing. Read more about the People Pulse 

survey and results in EY Norway’s account of equality and anti-
discrimination actions in FY25. 

In accordance with the Companies Act, EY Norway also has four 
employee representatives on the board for each of EY Norways 
legal enteties, elected for two-year terms. Additionally, we have 
an established working environment committee and a chief safety 
representative who safeguards employees’ interests. You can read 
more about this in the section on health, environment, and safety 
at the workplace.

To avoid exclusion and create security, EY Norway also has several 
networks to support belonging and inclusion. The groups are open 
to everyone, and in addition to promoting belonging, they are 
valued communication channels for the leadership to ensure that a 
wide range of voices and viewpoints in the organization are heard.

1-8 Collective bargaining coverage and social dialogue
(for countries with >50 empl. representing >10% total empl)

Collective Bargaining Coverage Social dialogue

Coverage Rate Employees – EEA Employees – Non-EEA Workplace representation  
(EEA only)

0%-19% Norway - -

20 -39 % - - -

40 -59 % - - -

60 -79 % - - -

80 -100 % - - Norway

Freedom of association and collective 
bargaining
EY Norway fully respects employees’ rights to freedom of 
association and collective bargaining, in line with our Global 
Inclusion and Non-Discrimination Policy. While many employees 

are members of trade associations, we do not maintain a 
registry of membership.

EY Norway has regular dialogue with industry associations to 
understand market- and political impacts on the business. 

Processes for remediation
We have clear policies and procedures to prevent discrimination 
and encourage employees to raise concerns through our grievance 
channels. These channels provide remedies for those affected 
by our operations and support remediation efforts, including 
collaboration with legal or independent bodies when needed.

Employees and third parties can report issues via our whistleblower 
hotline, EY Ethics hotline. It is promoted through our website and 
internal communications, and are accessible via web, email, or 
mail. A third-party provider manages these channels, tracking all 
valid cases to help us improve our procedures and ensure effective 
resolutions.

https://www.ey.com/no_no/about-us/corporate-responsibility/likestilling-inkludering-fy25
https://www.ey.com/no_no/about-us/corporate-responsibility/likestilling-inkludering-fy25
https://www.ey.com/no_no/about-us/corporate-responsibility/likestilling-inkludering-fy25
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Total nmb employees and non-employees

Per 30th of June 2025

Gender Employees Partnere Contractors

Men 1 109 107 12

Women 1 051 35 1

Other 0 0 0

Not Provided 0 0 0 Total Workforce

Total 2 160 142 13 2315

Our employees
The employees at EY Norway are primarily individuals with higher 
education. We hire a significant number of recent graduates each 
year, which maintains a low average age at EY.

Full-time employment is the standard employment at EY Norway 
The largest group of employees deviating from full-time permanent 
contracts are student workers or students in internships or similar 
time-limited programs. These groups usually work a limited number 
of hours alongside their studies or during school holidays.

All employees have the opportunity to apply for reduced working 
hours, either temporarily or permanently, based on personal 
preferences and needs. We strive to accommodate such requests 
when they can be combined with the individual’s role and 
responsibilities. The mapping of part-time and part-time employees 
is part of the Counselors’ follow-up. All part-time work is voluntary. 
The number of part-time employees has been hovering around 6 
-7 % for several years. Of the 155 part-time employees, 123 (79%) 
were students. The 32 part-time employees at EY Norway who 
were not in student positions included 11 men and 21 women.

A third group of employees includes those working at EY Norway 
on mobility contracts, known as inbound employees. As part of 
a global network, there will always be employees from other EY 
countries on short-term or long-term mobility assignments in 
Norway. Today, this group counts 10 employees. The duration 
ranges from a few weeks to 2 years.

6.3% of EY employees are on temporary contracts, which is a slight 
decrease of 0.7% from last year. Of the 137 temporary employees, 
100 are students and 26 are on mobility contracts from other EY 
countries.Employee turnover is measured on a rolling 12-month 
basis, and at the end of the fiscal year, the turnover rate at EY 
Norway was 15,8%. This is almost one percentage point higher 
than at the end of FY24. Given our industry and business model, 
we consider the current trend to be healthy and as expected.

Our non-employees
EY has two groups of non-employees: partners and hired 
consultants. EY partners are not employed by the firm, as they 
are considered self-employed. For further information about our 
partners, please refer to the EY 2025 Transparency Report — 
Norway

There are two main groups of hired consultants: those who work 
for EY’s operational business and those engaged in specific 
projects. The first group consists of self-employed individuals who 
work and interact similarly to EY employees. The latter group is 
engaged to be part of specific client engagements or deliveries. 
In both types of relationships, EY adheres to local labor laws 
that regulate hired consultants and non-employees. All hired 
consultants have agreements with EY Norway and invoice for the 
work they perform. They are not registered as employees. All 
individuals in this group are located in Norway.

Our People

EY is nothing without its people. Our people are the ones that 
create impact and make a positive difference for our clients as 
they leverage our knowledge, values, ethics, critical thinking, 
and not least our ability to innovate. EY integrates the interests, 
views, and rights of its workforce into its strategy by aligning its 
purpose, Building a better working world, with inclusive leadership, 
continuous learning, and ethical governance. Strategic workforce 
planning, diversity and inclusion, and transparent policies ensure 
that employee needs directly shape business decisions and long-
term value creation.

Our workforce is categorized into two key groups; service line 
employees, those who work in our client-facing roles in Assurance, 
Consulting, Tax and Law and EY-Parthenon, and those who 
work in our Core Business Services supporting the back-end of 
the business. Additionally, EY partners are categorized as non-
employees. Our partners are owners of the business and, while 
they are not technically employees, they act as employees in the 
daily operations. EY Norway has a total workforce of 2,315 people, 
consisting of EY partners, employees, and hired consultants. 
Everyone in EY Norway’s workforce works in Norway and is located 
at one of our 26 offices spread across the country. 62% of our 
employees work in Oslo at our headquarters S7.

*The group of partners includes one inbound partner

https://www.ey.com/no_no/insights/assurance/eys-aapenhetsrapport-2025
https://www.ey.com/no_no/insights/assurance/eys-aapenhetsrapport-2025
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S 1-6 Employees Contract Type — all employees are in the same region.
Based on headcount

Fiscal Year 2025  

Women Men Other Disclosed Total at EY 
Norway

% of total 
employees

Number of employees        
 

1 051 1 109 0 0 2 160 100,0 %

Number of permanent employees          

997 1 036 0 0 2 033 94,1 %

Number of temporary employees          

54 73 0 0 127 5,9 %

Number of non-guaranteed hours 
employees          

0 0 0 0 0 0,0 %

Number of full-time employees          

1010 1048 0 0 2 058 95,3 %

Number of part-time employees          

82 73 0 0 155 7,2 %

Total head-count       2 160  

In EY Norway, the majority of temporary contracts and part-time employees are students who either work 
continuously for a longer period during holidays or 1–2 times a week alongside their studies

https://xbrl.efrag.org/e-esrs/esrs-set1-2023.html#ntr*1-L_202302772EN.018001-E0003
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IRO 2,3 & 6: Secure Employment and Social Protection
In Norway, employees’ rights are safeguarded through a 
combination of legislation and public welfare provisions. Norway 
has a comprehensive welfare system that includes universal 
healthcare, access to childcare, free public education, and 
various support schemes designed to ensure financial security 
for all citizens. In addition, employers are subject to specific legal 
requirements to protect employees’ rights.

All employers in Norway are required to provide occupational injury 
insurance for their employees. This insurance covers financial 
losses resulting from work-related injuries and occupational 
diseases. EY monitors and records all work-related injuries 
throughout the year. In the financial year 2025, there were none 
work-related injuries reported. In cases of permanent reduced 
work capacity due to illness, injury, or disability, employees may 
be entitled to disability benefits from the public social security 
system.

Norway also provides a parental leave scheme that allows parents 
to share up to 49 weeks of leave with 100% salary coverage or 59 
weeks with 80% salary coverage. This includes a quota reserved for 
each parent, as well as a shared period that can be divided between 
them. EY Norway complies with the parental leave scheme and, in 
addition, offers returning employees the opportunity to work 80% 
of their normal hours with 100% pay during the first two months 
after returning from parental leave.

The standard notice period in Norway is three months, and 
employees have the right to request a written explanation if they 
are dismissed. At EY Norway and similar firms, employee turnover 
is typically higher than in many other sectors. We both hire more 
frequently and see more resignations during a given year. As a 
result, we have established procedures to support new employees 
as well as to ensure a structured offboarding process for those who 
leave, whether voluntarily or through termination. 

EY Norway has implemented comprehensive procedures and 
guidelines designed to foster a supportive social and physical 
work environment for our employees and partners, while also 
ensuring compliance with labor laws and regulations. These 
measures are integrated into our broader business strategy and 
operational governance framework. Our approach includes, among 
other things, careful consideration and development of office 
design, proactive leadership engagement and support, as well as 
counseling and support services aimed at meeting the needs of our 
workforce.

Sick leave 
At EY Norway, we maintain close follow-up of employees on long-
term sick leave. In FY24, we observed an increase in sickness 
absence among our employees compared to the previous year and 
this trend has continued into FY25, but at year-end we see the sick-
leave decreasing. This trend has been observed across industries 
in Norway over the past years. In response to this development, 
EY Norway has strengthened its follow-up measures for employees 
on sick leave. These include initiatives aimed at increasing 
managerial awareness and providing direct support to managers 
with employees on sick leave. In FY25 We have also increased the 
number of psychology hours available in our health insurance. 
There is also increased attention and investments in prophylactic 
measures such as coaching and other early interventions.

Total Women Men

2023 2.53% 3.55% 1.62%

2024 4.02% 6.34% 2.11%

2025 3.89% 5.52% 2.38%

 

*FY25 sick leave metrics are status at year-end, while previous year sick-
leave show the average throughout the year. Change due to system change 
in FY25

IRO 2, 4 & 5: Working hours 
At EY, as in the broader audit and consulting industry, employees 
may occasionally face periods of high intensity, tight deadlines, and 
overtime. While open, ongoing dialogue about individual workload 
and balance is encouraged, we also have formal safeguards in 
place to monitor working hours and ensure compliance with the 
Norwegian working Environment Act.To address the challenges 
of high workload and work intensity, which can affect employee 
wellbeing, development, and job satisfaction, EY Norway has 
implemented several targeted measures. The most significant are:

	� Effective time reporting where both each employee and their 
manager continuously have an overview of overtime hours and 
vacation days.

	� Follow-up of employees who are at risk of exceeding the legal 
limits for overtime and lack of continuous breaks between 
workdays.

	� Support for the allocation of time and prioritization of tasks by 
advisors/team leaders.

	� Staffing of projects in advance of delivery to ensure sufficient 
resources for the tasks.

	� Practical support as providing meals when working over-time.
	� Summer hours with a seven-hour workday during periods of 

lower activity, i.e., July and August. 

In addition to proper time-management and support through 
our Counselor structure, employees are offered low-threshold 
psychological services with mental coaching and individual 
guidance. EYs health insurance also covers expenses for 
psychologists.

EY Norway also offers coaching programs. Two of the most 
comprehensive programs are Family Transition and New Partner 
coaching and the newest additions are coaching focusing on stress 
resilience and personal wellbeing. Family Transition is offered to all 
EY employees expecting a child, while all newly appointed partners 
are offered New Partner transition coaching. EY Norway has an 

internal team consisting of 10 coaches who provide coaching to our 
employees. 

Together, these actions aim to promote a healthier work/life 
balance, reinforce a strong company culture, and ensure EY 
remains compliant with labor regulations while supporting its 
people and their families.

Over the course of the year, our employees over-all work 
approximately eight hours per workday.

Working hours and wellbeing
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Hybrid working
IRO 3 & 6: Flexibility at work 
Flexibility and trust are not only part of the EY DNA but also 
key to how we succeed as a business. It is due to this that we 
support hybrid working and allow our employees, alongside 
their managers, to incorporate working from home and working 
remotely from certain EU countries for up to 30 days a year. 
This mode significantly enhances the flexibility available to our 
employees, allowing them to tailor their work environment to best 
suit their professional and personal needs.

Health, Environment and Safety (HES)
EY Norway is aware of its responsibility to ensure compliance 
with the Norwegian Working Environment Act and applicable 
regulations. The Act and the regulations on systematic health, 
environment, and safety work after parental leave in enterprises 
(internal control regulations) form the foundation of the employer’s 
responsibility in this context. We safeguard employees’ safety, 
health, and welfare by continuously assessing the existing work 
environment in the company concerning factors that involve risk, 
health hazards, and welfare hazards, implementing necessary 
measures, and ensuring that safety work is carried out according 
to plan and legal provisions.

EY Norway has established working environment committees, 
chief safety representatives, internal control systems, and a 
channel for reporting unwanted incidents. We ensure that the chief 
safety representative and members of the working environment 
committee receive the necessary training to perform their tasks 
properly.

For EY, the greatest risks to health are related to stress and high 
work pressure, but also inactive job activities and static work in 
front of a PC.

Activities to prevent negative impact from work-related stress 
are described above. To address the second risk, musculoskeletal 
disorders from sedentary work, EY offers a variety of workplaces, 
and several workstations can be adapted to individual needs. We 
also offer individual ergonomic reviews, and as part of our hybrid 
workday, we provide office equipment to those who choose to work 
from home. We also accommodate individuals with special needs.

IRO 3: Family-related & Parental leave
At EY Norway all employees are entitled to family-related leave 
after completing a three-month probation period. Further to 
support a smooth return to work, all employees can work at 80% 
capacity for the first 12 weeks post-leave while receiving full 
pay. This, along with hybrid work options and Family Transition 
Coaching, helps ease the transition and balance work and family 
life.

These initiatives are shaping a more inclusive culture. It’s now 
standard for returning employees to opt for a gradual return, 
contributing to EY’s competitive edge in attracting and retaining 
top talent regardless of gender.

At EY Norway, the number of weeks male employees take parental 
leave has previous years typically corresponds to the period 
allocated to fathers under the public parental leave scheme.

S 1-13 Training and 
skills development:

 Employees   Partners   Total

Disclosure: Men Women Men Women Men Women

% partisipated in career 
development  100 %  100 %  100 %  100 %  100 % 100 %

Average number of  
training hrs 46 43 47 46 46 42

IRO 5: Continuous Learning at EY Norway
Training and skills development
EY is committed to providing all employees with equal 
opportunities for development. To meet evolving market and client 
demands, we invest in continuous learning through training and 
diverse development programs. Employees are offered at least 
120 hours of learning over three years, with most exceeding this 
minimum.

We offer a hybrid learning model combining eLearning, virtual, and 
in-person sessions, allowing flexible access tailored to individual 
needs. In FY25, employees averaged 44 hours of internal training, 
and 289 EY Badges were awarded. Education investments totaled 
in ca. 17 million NOK.

Ongoing learning helps manage risks, drive innovation, and align 
with strategic goals. It ensures EY remains resilient, socially 
responsible, and competitive in a dynamic business environment.
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EY Badges and Masters Programs
EY offers over 200 EY Badges covering topics like sustainability, 
AI, cybersecurity, and leadership. In partnership with Hult 
International Business School, employees can pursue accredited 
programs including:

	� Tech MBA – Focused on global tech, leadership, and business 
skills.

	� Master in Business Analytics – Practical training in data and AI 
for strategic decision-making.

	� Master in Sustainability – Tools and insights for delivering 
innovative sustainability services.
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IRO 7, 8 & 10: Inclusiveness for All

EY Norway and the Nordic region is actively working to promote 
gender equality at all levels of the organization. Our gender 
balance ratio is within our target of 40%-60% either way, at lower 
positions, on the board, and within the total employee population. 
The challenge for EY Norway lies in achieving gender balance 
at the Director and Partner levels. To address this, we have 
implemented several measures to investigate the reasons behind 
the lower number of female partners and to facilitate gender 
balance in top management as well. In addition to gender balance 
EY Nordics and Norway have increased focus on diversity in a 
broader sense, including persons with disabilities, and people from 
a range of cultural and professional backgrounds. In FY26 we will 
release a new strategy focusing on fostering an inclusive culture, 
gender focus, and being a leading voice in all we do, with clear 
methods and actions to accelerate progress. 

2025

Promotions to 
leading positions*

Promotions to 
Partner

*manager, assistant director, sr.mng, associate director, excecutive director & partner

2025

58%

42%

4 5

Men Woman

2025

Direct hires to 
leading positions*

Direct hires to 
Partner

*manager, assistant director, sr.mng, associate director, excecutive director & partner

2025

53%

47%

3

0

Men Woman

EY Norway’s activities to prevent discrimination and promote 
fair working conditions are a combination of annual recurring 
processes and one-off initiatives in areas where we have identified 
a higher risk of potential discrimination or opportunities for 
improvement. Below we have grouped initiatives into EY Norway’s 
Talent processes and work-situation where risk of unfair treatment 
and discrimination potentially may occur.

Recruitment
We believe that we attract the best candidates for a role by having 
the broadest possible recruitment base. Our analyses of the 
recruitment process have shown that we can do more to attract 
a wider segment of talent and further strengthen the interview 
and selection process through standardization. This work aims to 
promote equality of opportunity for all. 

Following is a selection of activities that EY Norway has undertaken 
in addition to or as part of established recruitment processes:

We utilize reports that highlight the current gender balance at 
various rank levels within the departments across EY Norway when 
planning for future hires. 

In the fiscal year 2024, EY Norway began a collaboration with 
InClue AS to enhance our recruitment process from start to finish, 
with the goal of promoting a diverse workplace and preventing 
potential discrimination. In FY25 we were certified by Inclue as a 
Bias-Free Recruiter, achieving certification in February 2025.

We promote gold standard interview training to ensure we conduct 
effective interviews. This is a skill, and through an updated 
course, employees gain access to training and quality questions 
that ensure a high-quality process. The course also addresses 

unconscious bias and is mandatory for interviewers in Norway to 
ensure unbiased selection.

Being seen as an attractive employer for all employees is essential 
— and something we can influence by fostering a culture that is 
genuinely inclusive and welcoming. Our bi-annual People Pulse 
Surveys consistently reflect high scores in these areas, reinforcing 
that EY is a great place to grow and thrive. 

Graduate intake shows a fairly balanced gender distribution across 
service lines, though student demographics influence this. Fields 
like finance and accounting, which feed into Audit, still see a male-
dominated student base, while Consulting and Tax & Law draw from 
more gender-balanced pools. To address the underrepresentation 
of women in finance and accounting, we’ve broadened our 
recruitment scope to include candidates with diverse but relevant 
educational backgrounds. We also have activities to inspire young 

women in choosing a career in Tech and Finance as our partnership 
with Oda–Women in tech and Women in Finance @EY .

In all we have a gender balance when recruiting graduates to our 
junior ranks. Below we have presented the gender balance in direct 
hires to senior ranks in EY.

Promotion
Overall, EY Norway has a good gender balance; however, at the 
upper levels of the organization (referred to as ranks in EY) and 
within the partner group, there is a predominance of men in EY 
Norway. We aim for a gender distribution of 40-60% either way, 
across the organization and continuously work to ensure equal 
opportunity for promotion of female leaders and partners. In the 
promotion process at EY Norway, we review analyses of the current 
gender balance and the development of employees with promotion 
potential. This provides a foundation for an environment where 
we can create opportunity for gender balance in the leadership 
segment this year and in the years to come.

An initiative that commenced in 2024 is coaching and support for 
new Senior Managers and Associate Directors. This is an extension 
of EY Norway’s focus on Executive Onboarding for newly hired 
Directors and Partners. It is also a priority to ensure a balanced 
pool of candidates in direct recruitment of experienced hires to 
ensure diversity, equity and gender balance in EY Norway’s upper 
ranks and leadership, and successful onboarding of new candidates 
is crucial for their long-term success at EY Norway. Dedicated 
teams with defined roles have been assembled to support new 
hires in succeeding at EY Norway.

https://inclue.no/
https://inclue.no/
https://www.ey.com/no_no/newsroom/2025/02/ey-blir-forst-i-norge-med-fordomsfri-sertifisering-fra-inclue
https://www.ey.com/no_no/newsroom/2025/02/ey-blir-forst-i-norge-med-fordomsfri-sertifisering-fra-inclue
https://odanettverk.no/
mailto:https://www.ey.com/no_no/careers/women-in-finance?subject=


Annual report 2024/2025  |  35

Pay gap S 1-10        

Client Serving personell

FY25 FY24

Rank Name Salary  
pay gap %

Total pay gap 
incl. bonuses %

Salary pay 
gap %

Total pay gap 
incl. bonuses %

Executive Director 2,70 % 6,79 % 7,56 % 10,60 %

Senior Manager 6,61 % 12,89 % 7,56 % 11,29 %

Manager 4,18 % 8,18 % 4,29 % 5,25 %

Senior 1,14 % 1,14 % 0,43 % 0,42 %

Staff/Assistant 0,03 % 0,03 % 0,37 % 0,35 %

Total Count/Averages 3,38 % 7,11 % 5,90 % 7,74 %

* Based on EFRAG’s guidance for calculating the gender pay gap (average salary of men – average salary of women) / average salary of men

** The calculation excludes interns and temporary employees.

***Core Business Functions are not included, as the low number of employees in these ranks means that individual cases could significantly affect the 
results.

Compensation 
EY Norway is committed to equal pay for equal work and actively 
addresses gender pay gaps through its compensation policy and 
bi-annual gender gap analyses, conducted before and after the 
salary review process. Any identified gaps are assessed, and if 
unjustified, corrected.

The annual review begins with a recommended video on gender 
bias for all compensation managers. Throughout the process, 
decision-makers are supported by real-time analytics showing 
male-to-female salary and bonus ratios. These insights are 
accessible to Service line leaders and partners with employee 
responsibilities, supported by Talent colleagues.

Salary reviews are conducted using EY’s proprietary tool, 
EarnEY, which flags significant gender-based pay discrepancies. 

Through these controls, EY Norway ensures fair and equitable 
compensation for work of equal value.

The pay gap between men and women is decreasing as gender 
balance develops in the organization and described structured 
approach to salary is maintained. For all ranks the gap has 
decreased compared to FY24.

At last the remuneration ratio at EY Norway in FY25, the 
difference between the highest paid incividual and the median 
salary, is 4,45% This is the same as last year. 

For more information on partner compensation read the 
Transparency report FY25

The Duty of Implementing and Reporting of Equality  
and Anti-discrimination EY Norway
EY Norway is committed to promoting equality and diversity, 
detailing initiatives and compliance with the Equality and Anti-
Discrimination Act for the period from July 1, 2024, to June 30, 
2025 (FY25). EY Norway aims to foster a diverse workforce, 

believing that this approach enhances both ethical responsibility 
and profitability. The organization systematically addresses gender 
equality and anti-discrimination across all HR processes and as 
part of EY’s ethical guidelines — Code of Conduct. Please read the 
full Account of EY Norway’s status, assessments and actions here.

http://EYs Åpenhetsrapport 2025 (Transparency Report) | EY Norge
https://www.ey.com/no_no/about-us/corporate-responsibility/likestilling-inkludering-fy25
https://www.ey.com/no_no/about-us/corporate-responsibility/likestilling-inkludering-fy25
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IRO 8: Gender balance and diversity in leadership
At EY Norway, we are committed to attracting and retaining 
leaders to build a diverse and gender-balanced organization at 
all levels. This commitment is rooted in the belief that diverse 
representation leads to better decision-making, stronger cohesion, 
and long-term business success.

Ongoing efforts over many years have paid off and gradually we 
see a gender balance in our leadership segment. The number 
of female partners is also increasing year on year, and we are 
confident that with a diverse pool of leader talents we will also 

reach gender balance on partner level in our organization. EY 
Norway’s Board of Directors also consist of 50% men and 50% 
women, with representation of younger employees and tenure 
diversity. 

Achieving gender parity and diversity in leadership is a long-term 
journey shaped by societal, organizational, and individual factors. 
While we cannot control all of them, we remain focused on what we 
can influence — especially sourcing, development, and retention of 
talent.

IRO 7, 9 & 10: Employment and inclusion of persons with disabilities
At EY Nordics and Norway we are committed to disability 
inclusion through dedicated leadership and an employee 
resource group composed of individuals who have own 
experience of living with a disability and individuals who want to 
support an accessible and inclusive workplace for people with 
disabilities. The group is sponsored by a partner in EY Norway 
and the Inclusion Lead, the group provides a safe space for 

support and peer exchange, advises the Talent team, and helps 
promote awareness across the organization. Our efforts align 
with the EMEIA Disability Strategy, built around the “Three A’s”: 
Awareness, Accessibility, and Allies.

As mentioned above EY was certified by Inclue as a Bias-Free 
Recruiter, achieving certification in February 2025.

Awareness, Accessibility & Allies remain  
the three key pillars for disability inclusion for EY Norway

01
Awareness 

Increasing awareness of disability 
inclusive practices among our 

leaders and teams to strengthen 
EY’s open and inclusive culture 

around disability

02 
Accessibility 

 
Moving toward greater 

accessibility in our everyday 
work, including digital 

accessibility 

03
Allies 

 
Expanding the Purple Champions 
network across EMEIA to share 

best practices and accelerate the 
disability agenda  

Gender Balance in leading positions  
(Manager, Senior manager, Escecutive Director and Partner, Assistant Director, Associate Director, Director)

Leading positions Number % % change from last year

Men 536 55 % 0 %

Women 432 45 % 4 %

Totalt 968 100 % 2 %

EY Partners 2025 Number % % change from last year

Men 107 76 % 0 %

Women 35 24 % 9 %

Total 142 100 % 2 %

*The partner population includes one inbound partner

Seniority as Board Member

0-5 years Men>29 years

40-49 years

6+years Women30-39 years

50 years

Age Distribution Gender Balance

Diversity in EY Norway’s Board of Directors

IRO 11: Measures against violence and 
harassment
At EY, we maintain zero tolerance for unethical conduct, 
including all forms of discrimination and harassment. Our 
culture is grounded in shared values of respect, courtesy, and 
professionalism, as outlined in our Global Code of Conduct (CoC) 
and Global Inclusion and Non-Discrimination Policy.

All partners and employees are expected to speak up if they 
witness behavior that violates these principles. To reinforce 

this, employees receive annual training and must reaffirm their 
commitment to the CoC each year.

Unethical behavior is defined as any action that could harm our 
culture, reputation, or credibility. To encourage reporting, we 
regularly communicate our policies and provide a dedicated 
whistleblowing channel- the EY Ethics Hotline. See chapter for 
Governancefor more informations.

In FY25 there were one reported case and zero substantiated 
cases managed by the Nordic Ethics Board.

https://www.ey.com/no_no/newsroom/2025/02/ey-blir-forst-i-norge-med-fordomsfri-sertifisering-fra-inclue
https://www.ey.com/no_no/newsroom/2025/02/ey-blir-forst-i-norge-med-fordomsfri-sertifisering-fra-inclue
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Status of Gender Balance and Age-distribution in EY Norway end of FY25:

Rank Men Women % Total Under 30 
years old % 30–50  

years old % Above 50 years old

Partner/Principal 107 76 % 35 24% 142 82 57% 61 43%

Executive Director 61 65 % 33 35 % 94 46 49% 48 51%

Senior Manager 158 52 % 145 48 % 303 269 89% 34 11%

Manager 210 49 % 219 51 % 429 39 9% 363 85% 27 6%

Senior 315 47 % 362 53 % 677 347 51% 280 41% 50 7%

Staff/Assistant 293 55 % 240 45 % 533 475 89% 58 11% 0 0%

Intern (CS) 72 58 % 52 42 % 124 120 97% 4 3% 0 0%

Total 1216 53% 1086 47% 2302 981 43% 1102 48% 220 10%
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S2 Workers in the Value Chain
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ESRS S2 Workers in the Value Chain

Introduction

Compliance with fundamental human rights is directly linked to our purpose of Building a better working world. We base our 
understanding on the UN’s Universal Declaration of Human Rights and related treaties and declarations and our approach to 
respecting and upholding human rights is based on the UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights. Our responsibility 
to respect human rights extends beyond our direct operations to our supply chains and we try to actively monitor our suppliers’ 
work with human rights. EY Norway’s supply chain consists predominantly of suppliers based in Nordics.

Impacts, risk and opportunities: 

IRO 12: By maintaining a strong relationship with suppliers, EY 
is potentially able to influence decent working conditions and the 
wellbeing of workers in the value chain.

IRO 13: Working in large global teams and in teams that include 
subcontractors and workers abroad, increase the risk of 
reputational damage, should EY country fail to ensure workers’ 
wellbeing, health and security.

IRO 14: EY may face financial and reputational damage if we do 
not comply with laws and regulations that protect human rights in 
the value chain 

Policies: 

	� Supplier Code of Conduct
	� EY’s general terms and conditions (Nordic version) 
	� EY Global Procurement Policy (internal policy)

Targets 

Conduct yearly Human Rights Due Diligence assessment FY25 result: completed in FY25

Commitment to fair labor practices and human rights for value 
chain workersl 

No specific targets set yet in this area

Progress FY25 

https://www.ey.com/content/dam/ey-unified-site/ey-com/en-gl/about-us/diversity-and-inclusiveness/documents/ey-supplier-code-of-conduct-2025.pdf
https://www.ey.com/en_gl/legal-and-privacy/procurement#procurement-terms
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Procurement policies and EY Supplier 
Code of Conduct
EY’s Supplier Code of Conduct sets forth the minimum standards of 
business conduct that we expect from all our suppliers and includes 
commitments to respect human rights, environment and ethical 
business practices. Paragraphs 3.1 to 3.12 describes EY’s demand 
on Human rights and we expect that vendors should have policies 
in place to confirm the supplier’s commitment to points 3.1—3.12, 
and improvement programs should be in place where relevant. By 
signing EY’s General Terms and Conditions, the supplier agrees 
to abide by EY’s Supplier Code of Conduct in its delivery to EY. 
As part of our efforts to strengthen EY Norway’s work to protect 
human rights our due diligence process in the supply chain is 
strengthened at a Nordic and Norwegian level, in collaboration with 
EY Global. 

Our general policies and commitments to protect environment, 
human rights and ethical business conduct in EY’s supply chain: 

	� EY Global Supplier Code of Conduct 
	� EY’s general terms and conditions (Nordic version) 
	� EY Global Procurement Policy (internal policy) 

All EY personnel must follow the ”Global Procurement and Supply 
Chain Policy” for any purchase, regardless of size. Contracts with 
suppliers must include compliance with the EY Supplier Code of 
Conduct or equivalent policy. For technology, travel, HR, brand 
marketing and communication purchases, Global Supply Chain 
Services must be involved, regardless of price. For workplace 
services, the threshold is USD50,000.

EY Global Supply Chain Services 

EY Global Supply Chain Services (SCS) is organized at a global 
level with dedicated regional contacts for primary procurement 
areas. EY holds contracts at a global, regional and local level, 
depending on the product or service sourced. The EY Procurement 
Environment, Social and Governance Services (ESGS) team is 
responsible for ESG topics throughout SCS. Sourcing managers are 
regularly provided with training sessions to facilitate responsible 
sourcing. In fiscal year 2025 all supply chain professionals were 
required to complete online Sustainable Procurement training with 
concepts applicable to human rights such as supplier due diligence. 
94% of all EY SCS staff have completed this training. 

As part of the procurement process involving EY Global SCS due 
diligence is conducted on potential suppliers when suppliers are 
registered in our vendor system. Through the supplier assessment 
survey, they are asked for goals, programs and policies. This 
initial assessment also acts as a screening process to shortlist 
suppliers for a deeper dive assessment conducted by EY Global 
Procurement’s ESGS team.

https://www.ey.com/content/dam/ey-unified-site/ey-com/en-gl/about-us/diversity-and-inclusiveness/documents/ey-supplier-code-of-conduct-2020.pdf
https://www.ey.com/en_gl/legal-and-privacy/procurement
https://www.ey.com/en_gl/about-us/diversity-equity-inclusiveness/environmental-social-governance-services
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IRO 12: Procurement process 

As part of the procurement process, we conduct due diligence on 
our potential suppliers. The due diligence process is managed by 
Supply Chain Services in collaboration with Risk Management and 
it covers the evaluation of potential suppliers in terms of: 

	� Anti-corruption: the global policy requires that all potential 
suppliers are evaluated to determine whether they fall within the 
scope of anti-corruption due diligence 

	� Third-party sanctions: screening provides any sanctions 
imposed on third parties 

	� Financial risks: the financial indicators used predict the 
likelihood of solvency and/or bankruptcy, both long and 
shortterm

	� Sustainability: to drive sustainability and social and economic 
impact for EY and the communities we serve 

	� Modern slavery 
At the beginning of the procurement process, the EY Independence 
Team determines if there are independence requirements and if a 
deeper evaluation and monitoring of the business relationship is 
required (through an application called BRIDGE). The Information 
Security, Supplier Risk Assurance and Data Protection Compliance 
team determine whether the suppliers that store, process, 
transmit, or access confidential information from EY or EY 
customers meet the minimum standard of vendor risk and data 
protection compliance. The same team also manages the disaster 
recovery plans for suppliers defined as critical (e.g. purchase 
of PCs, phones). The Legal team supports the negotiation and 
formalization of the contract.

IRO 13 & 14: EY Global Procurement ESG Due Diligence 
program
EY’s Global Procurement ESG due diligence program with suppliers 
is managed by EY Global ESGS team. The Nordic Human Rights 
Due Diligence of suppliers is an addition to and in collaboration 
with the global program to ensure that we also properly detect 
and address risks that concern EY Norway and Nordics. The global 
program falls into the following five areas:

	� To map potential risks at our suppliers overall and per product 
or service, EY Global Procurement have used the EY ESG Risk 
Tool. Based in this, they developed the Sustainable Sourcing 
Framework — a practical guide for sourcing managers on how 
to approach ESG including supplier selection and request for 
proposal (RFP) questions. There is a core set of RFP questions 
noted which should be asked no matter the product or service 
and then additional questions that can be asked for specific 
products or services (based on the risks identified in the ESG 
Risk Tool). 

	� Just as EY’s Global Code of Conduct outlines ethical standards 
for every EY individual, the Supplier Code of Conduct 
establishes similar expectations for EY suppliers. To monitor 
the adherence with the EY Supplier Code of Conduct, EY Global 
ESGS team have previously tracked strategic contracts and are 
still exploring ways to enhance this process. They have not yet 
detected any serious violations against the EY Supplier Code, 
nor incidents related to anticorruption or bribery. If any issues 
are identified, EY Global SCS will collaborate with the supplier to 
address these and develop an effective remediation plan.

	� EY SCS survey suppliers whilst they’re being onboarded to 
understand their goals, programs and policies. This acts as 
a screening process to shortlist suppliers for a deeper dive 
assessment.

	� EY Global ESGS use deep dive due diligence to have a more 
accurate understanding of the ESG impacts of our suppliers and 
to verify if they’re adhering to the Supplier Code of Conduct. 

In 2022 they carried out an assessment pilot with 71 high-risk, 
high-spend suppliers globally and in 2024 they invited a further 
250+ suppliers to take part. And in 2025 they extended the 
assessment to more suppliers. The selection of Nordic suppliers 
is aligned with EY Nordics and any follow-up is coordinated. 
Suppliers responded to questions about their policies, programs 
and impacts across ESG and we will work with them to 
encourage improvements.

	� Based on local supplier responses in the ESG assessment, 
follow-up will be coordinated with local ESG teams and any 
follow up of Norwegian or Nordic suppliers will take place 
through close vendor relationships and dialogue. EY Global 
Procurement will follow up with other vendors as needed. For 
scores below 33%, a video call will be set up to discuss planned 
actions. For scores between 33% and 65%, we’ll request an 
update on progress. Vendors scoring above 66% will receive an 
email thanking them for their efforts and participation.

EY in Norway has established a system where we systematically 
collect information and document supplier follow-up at regular 
intervals to ensure a coordinated approach across the region and 
globally at EY. Due diligence assessments of the supply chain 
is a continuous process with follow-up of risk areas and new 
evaluations.

Human Rights Due Diligence

EY Norway and the Nordic region carries out a human rights 
due diligence assessment based on the OECD’s Guidelines for 
Responsible Business Conduct. As part of our due diligence 
process, we conduct risk assessments on our suppliers.

Please find detailed disclosure of the due diligence methodology, 
results and activities in the account of EY Norway’s Human Rights 
Due Diligence.

https://www.ey.com/en_no/about-us/corporate-responsibility/human-rights
https://www.ey.com/en_no/about-us/corporate-responsibility/human-rights
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S4 Consumers and end-users

Introduction

EY’s activities and investments in society help create economic and social prosperity through areas such as employment, 
community engagement, investments, innovation of services, and taxes. Both globally and in Norway EY works long-term to 
strengthen quality, enhance efficiency, and create transformative opportunities for sectors and businesses through a clear 
focus on investments in innovation, technology, and AI-enabled solutions.  
We also believe businesses have an important role to play in tackling some of society’s toughest challenges and helping foster 
sustainable, inclusive growth. Through our global corporate volunteering program, EY Ripples, we mobilize EY people, tapping 
into our unique skills and knowledge to achieve a long-term vision — to positively impact one billion lives globally.

Impacts, risk and opportunities: 

IRO 15: Through our service delivery and expertise, EY positively 
impacts society by delivering quality information that drive 
sustainable business practices.

IRO 16: Should EY deliver poor quality or misinformation we could 
face financial, legal and reputational risks

IRO 17: A breach of personal or client data and privacy could 
subject EY to potential risks, including legal claims, proceedings, 
and reputational damage.

IRO 18: There is a long-term financial opportunity to support 
business transformation towards a sustainable economy; while 
currently there is a short term risk of loss of revenue from reduced 
demand for ESG related engagements due to regulatory changes 
and political climate.

Targets 

Focus on guiding clients to adopt responsible and sustainable 
practices

No specific targets set yet in this area

Contributing to EY Global’s target of 1 billion lives impacted 
through EY Ripples

203 
employees participated in EY Ripples 

8116 
hours worked for EY Ripples in EY Norway

Progress FY25 

Policies
	� EY Global Code of Conduct
	� PACE _ Risk and independence assessment

https://www.ey.com/en_no/about-us/global-code-of-conduct
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Policies to secure ethical business 
conduct, independence and quality
EY Norway operates under a global Code of Conduct and a suite 
of policies that govern client service, data protection, and ethical 
behavior. These are reinforced through mandatory training and 
monitored via our internal quality review systems. Our commitment 
to public interest is embedded in our purpose: Building a better 
working world.

For every client and project EY Norway engage with we do perform 
a thorough risk and independence assessment to ensure that 
there are now legal requirements or risks preventing us to take on 
the engagement. The independence of EY Norway as auditor is 
highly guarded and we balance our competencies as advisors and 
auditors with diligence.

Our annual Transparency report outlines our governance 
structure, independence safeguards, and quality control systems, 
which are designed to protect end-user trust and mitigate the risks.

Impact for clients 
EY strives to generate value with our services to promote 
confidence in capital markets and create long-term value for 
clients, employees and society at large. We do this through our 
extensive service offering and strong ecosystems and alliances. We 
have one of the world’s largest networks of advisors, deep industry 
insights and diverse teams that offer innovative solutions and ways 
of working. Our teams focus on delivering exceptional services to 
help our clients transform and develop their activities. 

EY Norway’s services impact a wide range of consumers and end-
users, including clients, regulators, investors, and the broader 
public. This section addresses how we assure quality and deliver 
value to clients specifically to society in large.

Impact assessment  
and risk modeling
Develop valuation and risk scenarios 
to quantify financial and non-
financial values and stress test the 
portfolio.

Sustainable tax
Increase transparency, improve 
governance in the tax area, and 
create incentives that accelerate the 
company’s sustainability strategy.

Sustainable products  
and services
Create value for customers by 
developing sustainable customer 
experiences, products, and services 
that generate new revenue streams 
and meet customer expectations.

Human capital
Manage effects on employees and 
communities, such as in areas 
of social impact, justice, equity, 
environment, safety and health, 
corporate culture, and workforce.

Sustainable transactions
Evaluate the effects of sustainability 
initiatives during commercial and 
financial due diligence to minimize 
risks and maximize opportunities.

Sustainable financing  
and incentives
Review company strategies for 
financing and the transition 
to environmental and social 
investments that have a more 
positive impact on the  
environment and society.

Reducing carbon emissions 
and energy consumption
Define targets for climate neutrality 
that reduce climate impact and 
accelerate the transition to 
renewable energy sources.

Communication to 
shareholders and other 
stakeholders
Provide information on goals, 
progress, and value to meet 
expectations from shareholders  
and other stakeholders.

Sustainable digitalization
Establish a strategy for data and 
technology aimed at transitioning 
to green technology and creating 
digital sustainable solutions.

Sustainable strategies
Integrate sustainability into 
company strategy and purpose to 
set ambitious goals while optimizing 
portfolios and evaluating the impact 
on shareholders and stakeholders.

Sustainable governance,  
risk, and compliance
Integrate sustainability into 
corporate governance and 
manage new risks, scenarios, and 
regulations.

Sustainable transformations
Design change programs together 
with internal and external 
stakeholders to achieve the 
company’s sustainability goals.

Sustainable accounting  
and reporting
Publish accurate and reliable 
reporting that reflects the 
company’s work on sustainability 
and results.

Sustainable value chain  
and circular economy
Increase transparency and create 
circular value chains.

IRO 15 & 18: EY’s Sustainability Services
How we serve our clients depends on their specific needs.  
Here are examples of EY services across the ESG agenda

https://www.ey.com/no_no/insights/assurance/eys-aapenhetsrapport-2025
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IRO 15 & 18: EY’s sustainability services help clients:

Reframing Strategy
We help our clients develop strategies that incorporate 
sustainability to deliver long-term value. This involves identifying 
opportunities for competitive advantage and mapping out the 
journey to achieve these goals.

Accelerating Transition
We support our clients in implementing their sustainability 
strategies, setting ambitious targets, and executing change 
projects across the value chain. This includes integrating financial, 
sustainability, and ESG metrics to build a robust business case. 

Governance and Operations
We assist our clients in adapting their governance structures to 
sustain the value created by their competitive advantage. We 
also help them operate more effectively and efficiently to meet 
stakeholder demands.

Building Trust
We facilitate transparent reporting and assurance of financial 
accounts as well as of sustainability and ESG initiatives. This helps 
our clients build trust with key stakeholders, including regulators 
and investors, by demonstrating progress against stated goals. 
Through these efforts, we not only help businesses create value 
for sustainability but also ensure that sustainability initiatives 
contribute to business success. 
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Engaging with clients 
EY Norway engages with clients and end-users through structured 
and ongoing dialogue to understand how our services impact them 
and society. This engagement is central to our commitment to 
transparency, trust, and continuous improvement. 

For our largest and most complex clients, EY assigns a Global 
Client Service Partner (GCSP) who is responsible for orchestrating 
service delivery across geographies and service lines. The GCSP 
acts as a single point of accountability and ensures that client 
feedback is continuously integrated into our delivery model. 
Additionally, we have engagement partners responsible for the 
client relationship relating to each project.

To make sure that we bring the right insights in relation to 
the client’s sector, our client facing personnel are supported 
by industry teams bring deep sector-specific knowledge to client 
engagements. These teams ensure that our services are tailored 
to the regulatory, operational, and sustainability contexts of each 
client’s industry. This structure enhances our ability to identify and 
respond to sector-specific impacts and opportunities.

We engage with clients through structured feedback mechanisms, 
including:

	� Expectations of Service Quality (ESQ)  |  Captures client 
expectations at the outset of engagements.

	� Assessment of Service Quality (ASQ)  |  Conducts formal 
interviews post-engagement to assess performance and identify 
improvement areas.

These tools are integral to our continuous improvement culture 
and directly support EY’s positive impactby ensuring our services 
meet stakeholder expectations.

Channels for consumers and end-users to raise 
concerns
Clients can raise concerns through multiple channels, including 
engagement partners, quality review teams, and EY’s global 
whistleblowing platform EY Ethics Hotline. EY’s whistleblowing 
channel and channels for raising concerns are explained more in 
detail in the Governance section.

Tracking performance
We track performance through a combination of global and local 
KPIs, including:

	� ASQ recommendation scores
	� Client retention rates
	� Audit quality indicators from internal and external reviews
	� Number of grievances raised and resolved

While we do not yet publish consumer-specific targets, we are 
working to align our metrics and anticipate including more granular 
disclosures in future reports.
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Engageing society and stakeholders 
EY’s value is Building a better working world and through concrete 
actions we have attempted to teach, create dialogue and initiate 
actions for a sustainable business.

In EY Norway we acknowledge that we are dependent on our 
stakeholders and the society we live and operate in, and we want to 
be a positive contributor of engagement and dialogue.

Besides our direct client work EY Norway is also actively 
participating in industry forums and public debate, to further 
engage with end-users and activate our knowledge. Following are 
some examples on how we do this:

	� Publishing thought leadership: 
In FY25 we launched the New Economy Report on 
sustainable transformations cross-Nordics. It is based on 
established science and technology and proposes a possible 
new economic future. Together with World Watch Fund 
(WWF) EY Norway investigated how sectors in Norway 
can reduce Norway’s overall heavy material and resource 
footprint. The report, “Nature has Limits ”, was published in 
October 2024.

	� Hosting webcasts: 
During FY25 EY cross-Nordics hosted Sustainability 
Matters Webcasts on latest news and updates in the field 
of Sustainability; from legislative updates to technology for 
transformation.

	� Teaching at universities and business schools:  
Our senior employees and partners have a well of experience 
from different companies and sectors. Together with the 
latest science in their field this combination makes them 
sought four lecturers in different subjects cross our areas of 
expertise.

	� Presentations, participating in panels and contributing in 
public dialogue and knowledge sharing experiences:  
Throughout FY25 EY Partners and employees have 
participated in the public dialogue on topics where we are 
experts and topics that engage us. Examples are CMP Arbab’s 
Dar’s honest interview about himself, his values and passion 
in Dagens Næringsliv, our tax and tariff-experts sharing 
perspective as tariffs again are significant uncertainties 
and barriers in global trade on several media platforms and 
how EY put Norway’s radical material over-consumption and 
resource inefficiency in the headlines together with WWF as 
we launched the Nature has Limits -report.

	� Create experiences for change:  
Four Futures invites you to explore four alternative scenarios 
for the year 2055. First launched at COP28, this award-
winning* simulation makes climate science tangible by 
visualizing real-world impacts. Participants experience and 
debate the long-term consequences of today’s decisions on 
climate, business, society, and geopolitics. During FY25 the 
session has been hosted by EY at S-Hub conference and for 
clients to spawn strategic conversations for the future. 
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IRO 17: Information security  
and personal data 
The objective of information security is to protect EY’s assets from 
a wide range of threats and effectively lower the business risk. 
Information security is achieved by imposing an appropriate set of 
controls subject to regular views and improved when required. The 
EY Global Information Security Policy and the Information Security 
Management System Policy (ISMS Policy) provide EY with a global 
and uniform approach to information security. Both are aligned 
with the International Standard ISO 27001.

Data protection 
EY respects and protects confidential data obtained from, or 
relating to, clients or third parties, as well as personal data and 
information about EY people. This behavior is embedded in our 
Global CoC.

All suppliers that store, process, transmit, or access Personal 
Data as defined in the Global Data Protection Policy, or EY client 
confidential information as defined in the Global Information 
Classification policy must be assessed to determine whether 
they have implemented a data protection framework that is 
compliant with applicable laws and the scope of data risk presented 
through the services provided (i.e., the data protection vendor 
due diligence process) in order to meet a minimum standard of 
respective supplier risk and data protection compliance. 

These assessments are based on information collected from 
the business owner and the supplier and reviewed by the EY 
Information Security, Supplier Risk Assurance, and Data Protection 
teams. It is in the responsibility of the business owner (the 
requestor of the goods or services to be procured) to involve the 
required teams prior to contractually engaging with the supplier. 
GSOPP-Global Standard Operation Procurement Procedure states 
the responsibilities and timely involvement of the Data Privacy 
teams in different phases. 

In FY25, 100% of employees completed the annual data security 
training Annual Data Protection and Information Security Update 
2025 which focuses on how to for example protect yourself against 
phishing attempts, what to think of when traveling. Courses on AI 
are offered to all employees in connection with the launch of new 
tools throughout the year. In addition to data security courses, 
there are regular tests and reminders to ensure employee vigilance 
and awareness around fake emails and ”phishing”.

AI in EY – Responsible Use and Strategic 
Integration
EY continues to integrate artificial intelligence (AI) across its global 
operations, including in Norway, to enhance service delivery, 
operational efficiency, and data-driven decision-making. AI is used 
in areas such as risk management, compliance, and client advisory 
services, always with a strong emphasis on ethical use and human 
oversight.

EY’s approach to AI is guided by global principles that prioritize 
transparency, accountability, and security. These principles are 
embedded in EY’s governance framework and ensure that AI 
technologies are deployed in ways that support trust, protect 
privacy, and complement—not replace—human judgment.

AI systems are also increasingly integrated into information 
security platforms, with safeguards in place to monitor and 
manage AI-related risks. This supports EY’s broader commitment 
to secure and resilient operations.

EY Norway’s Alignment with the EU AI Act
EY Norway has taken the necessary steps to align with the EU 
Artificial Intelligence Act (AI Act), which introduces harmonized 
rules for the use of AI systems across the European Union. 
Although Norway is not an EU member, the AI Act is expected 
to be incorporated into Norwegian law through the forthcoming 
Norwegian Law on Artificial Intelligence currently under national 
consultation and scheduled for implementation in 2026.

EY’s alignment with the AI Act reflects both regulatory 
preparedness and practical business needs. As many of EY’s clients 
operate within the EU, ensuring compliance with the AI Act is 
essential for maintaining trust, interoperability, and legal certainty 
across borders. This proactive approach supports EY’s broader 
commitment to responsible technology use and secure, future-
proof operations.

Community investment — EY Ripples
We believe businesses have an important role to play in tackling 
some of society’s toughest challenges and helping foster 
sustainable, inclusive growth. Through our global corporate 
volunteering program, EY Ripples, we mobilize EY people, tapping 
into our unique skills and knowledge to achieve a long-term vision 
— to positively impact one billion lives globally. At EY Norway, 
our employees can devote up to 15 working hours per year to 
EY Ripples volunteering. Through EY Ripples, we apply our skills 
and experiences in pro bono and volunteering settings to make a 
difference across these focus areas: 

	� Supporting the next generation of workforce 
	� Working with impact entrepreneurs 
	� Accelerating environmental sustainability 
	� Disaster response 

These are the areas where we believe our combined capabilities 
can make the biggest impact and help overcome the biggest 
challenges to date, as framed by the UN Sustainable Development 
Goals. In FY25 203 employees in EY Norway devoted 8116 hours 
to initiatives and organizations that work to make a positive impact. 
The time EY employees in Norway devoted to EY Ripples activities 
and other pro-bono and volunteering activities constituted an 
investment of approximately 9 million NOK, calculated based on an 
average hourly rate.
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Examples of EY Ripples initiatives in FY25: 

EYs Amplifier
EYs Amplifier EY’s Amplifier is EY’s pro-bono accelerator 
program for startups focused on solutions for a sustainable 
future. Twice a year, we invite participants to join the program, 
where companies receive a dedicated EY team to assist with 
their growth ambitions. Together, challenges are addressed 
and opportunities are identified — all to create a sustainable 
world. Each participant receives 300 hours of support over 3 
months. 

 
EY Norway and UNICEF Norway
During FY25 a small team has supported UNICEF Norway 
support their efforts in optimizing their financial strategy and 
operations, with the aim to support more children globally. 
The collaboration was fruitful and we will continue to support 
UNICEF and their important mandate across the globe.

EY Summercamp
One of our impactful contributions, both for our employees 
as camp hosts and for the children who participate, is EY 
Summercamp. Here, we invite Ukrainian refugee children to 
enjoy a week of traditional summer fun and friendship. This is 
living the purpose of Building a Better Working World.

Economic contribution 
EY Norway adds financial value to the local economy through the 
our services, payment of wages, taxes, and community investment. 

We contributes to the financing of public services through tax 
payments, recognizing the need for societal activities to be funded 
via the tax system. We pay taxes as a natural part of the value 
creation EY contributes to, which includes paying the correct tax at 
the correct time and maintaining an open dialogue with Norwegian 
tax authorities. 

In addition to complying with Norwegian tax regulations, EY 
Norway follows the EY Global Tax Policy, which means we also 
strive to act within the intent of the rules, using business-driven 
structures and avoiding aggressive tax structures. 

Our contribution consists of various taxes. Some are paid by EY 
Norway (i.e., all taxes borne by EY Norway), others are paid by 
EY globally, and some are paid by the individual owners of the 
companies in Norway. Using the World Economic Forum’s extended 
calculations, we capture all taxes borne and collected by EY 
Norway. The total amount of taxes borne and transferred shows 
the contribution generated by EY Norway. 

EY Norway is organized as a partnership, and due to this ownership 
structure, a significant portion of the taxes related to EY’s income 
is paid by the individual owners of the business and not directly 
by EY Norway. As such, EY Norway does not have insight into 
information about all such taxes paid by the business owners. 

EY Norway’s total contribution, excluding taxes paid by the owners, 
amounts to NOK 1.82 billion. This amount can be divided into 
approximately NOK 581 million in taxes borne and NOK 1.244 
billion in taxes collected. 

Employer’s social security contribution (paid): NOK 292 million 

Preliminary tax withheld from employees’ salaries (transferred): 
NOK 581 million 

VAT and customs duties (paid): NOK 952 million 

EY Norway also made direct monetary donations worth ca 
750 000 NOK to different charitable organizations in Norway 
during FY25.

https://www.ey.com/no_no/eys-amplifier
https://www.eysommercamp.no/
https://www.eysommercamp.no/
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G1 Corporate Governance
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ESRS G1 Corporate Governance

Introduction

EY is committed to upholding the highest standards of business conduct, recognizing that our ethical practices are fundamental 
to our reputation and the trust we inspire among clients and stakeholders.

Impacts, risks and opportunities: 

IRO 18: Upholding a corporate culture of quality, compliance and 
ethics positively impacts the industry by fostering reliability and 
trust in capital markets. 

IRO 19: Failure to adhere to EY’s Code of Conduct and quality 
standards may lead to reputational damage, litigation, penalties 
and loss of authorization to perform audits.

IRO 20: EY is committed to adhering to all applicable anti-bribery 
and corruption laws in the jurisdictions where we operate. Failure 
to comply with these laws could expose EY to risks, including 
fines, reputational harm, and potential prosecution.

IRO 21: Proactively preventing corruption and money laundering 
maintain and protect trust in EY’s ethical standards and 
integrity, which supports long term business relationships. 

IRO 22: Accessible and trustworthy whistleblowing channels 
and effective whistleblower protection may increase trust and 
confidence in EY and have a positive impact for EY’s employees 
and other stakeholders.

IRO 23: Failure to protect whistleblowers in a timely and proper 
manner can lead to mistrust among employees and other 
stakeholders and expose EY to both legal and reputational risk.

IRO 24: EY may face legal and reputational risk if we fail to 
uphold decent payment conditions respecting vendor’s payment 
terms. 

Policies:
	� EY Global Code of Conduct
	� Anti-Bribery and Corruption Global Polic (internal)y
	� EY Global Independence Policy (Internal)

Targets 

100% 
confirmation of the EY Code of Conduct 

FY25 result: 

100% 
signed the Code of Conduct

100% 
participation in EY Code of Conduct training

FY25 result: 

99% 
completed Code of Conduct training

100% 
confirmation of Independence policy and procedures

FY25 result: 

100% 
confirmed compliance with  

EY’s independence policy and procedures

100% 
participation in training on  

EY’s independence policy and procedures

FY25 result: 

100% 
completed training on EY’s independence policy and procedures

Progress FY25 

https://www.ey.com/en_no/about-us/global-code-of-conduct
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IRO 18 & 19: Our approach to 
Business conduct policies and 
corporate culture
Our corporate culture is anchored in the core values of integrity, 
respect, teaming and inclusiveness, as outlined in our Global Code 
of Conduct (CoC). These values are brought to life by our people 
– individuals who lead with energy, enthusiasm, and courage 
and who build relationships based on doing the right thing. It is 
through this culture that we approach our purpose of Building a 
better working world. Integral to our organization, the CoC shapes 
our corporate culture, training, communication, and sets forth 
principles that dictate our business conduct.

We are unwavering in our commitment to these values and 
do not tolerate behaviors that undermine our professional 
standards, such as discrimination, unethical practices, or financial 
misconduct. The Country Board and the Risk Management 
function oversee adherence to the law, EY policies, and CoC. To 
ensure compliance, all EY personnel must participate in annual 
CoC training and formally pledge to uphold our CoC. In FY25, EY 
Norway reported almost full participation in this ethics training, 
with 99% of employees completing the program and 100% signing 
the confirmation of compliance with  EY’s CoC.. 

During FY25, EY Norway identified one potential breach with EY’s 
CoC. It was diligently addressed through our internal procedures, 
and it did not result in an instance of corruption or bribery or 
significant human rights violation. Furthermore, these cases did 
not incur any financial penalties, compensations, or damages, 
reflecting our commitment to rectifying issues in line with our 
ethical principles.

The EY Global Code of Conduct provides an ethical framework 
for our behavior. It draws on our shared values and builds on 
our purpose and our ambition. Our Global Code of Conduct is 
organized into five categories containing guiding principles that 
should be used by everyone within EY to guide behavior across all 
areas of our activity.

Working with  
one another

Acting with  
professional integrity

Protecting data, 
information and 

intellectual capital

Working with  
clients and others

Maintaining our 
objectivity  
and independence

The EY Global Code of Conduct provides an ethical framework  
for our behavior. It draws on our shared values and  

builds on our purpose and our ambition.
Our Global Code of Conduct is organized into five categories 

 containing guiding principles that should be used  
by everyone within EY to guide behavior across all areas of our activity.

1
2

3
4

5
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EY Norway’s Quality Standards

EY Norway’s commitment to quality applies to all projects and 
processes across the company. Thus there are Quality standards, 
guideline and controls to ensure we deliver our services to high 
standards, abreast with the newest technology and with integrity. 
In Appendix III we have outlined the most essential Quality, Risk 
and Due Diligence processes for EY Norway.  

IRO 22: Whistleblowing – EY Ethics 
hotline
The presence of secure and accessible whistleblowing mechanisms 
is crucial to maintaining our reputation for transparency and 
ethical conduct. These systems are instrumental in upholding our 
values both as an employer and as an auditor, reinforcing the trust 
placed in us by employees, clients, and the wider community.

We are committed to fostering an environment where concerns 
about client engagements or unethical or illegal activities can be 
raised without fear of retaliation. Retaliation against individuals 
who report in good faith is strictly prohibited and constitutes a 
serious breach of our CoC. Any act of retaliation by an EY person, 
such as intimidation, will be met with disciplinary action, which may 
include termination of employment. 

Initial contact with the EY Ethics Hotline is managed by an 
independent third-party service provider that guarantees 
confidentiality and objectivity. Ethics Point swiftly forwards 
reports to the appropriate ethics contactat EY for in-depth review 
and subsequent action. As part of our commitment to ethical 
conduct, all EY employees undergo annual CoC training, which 
includes information on the whistleblowing process to ensure that 
all personnel are equipped to identify and report potential ethical 
issues. All key information related to the whistleblower hotline is 
readily available for all EY personnel. 

IRO 23: EY Nordics Ethics Board
To uphold and enforce ethical standards, we have established 
the Ethics Board, with four people representing our internal 
Legal and Risk Management function as well as our Talent leader 
and additional two senior partners. The board’s mandate is to 
rigorously investigate any suspected breaches of the EY CoC, 
global policies, and our commitment to non-discrimination, 
ensuring that any confirmed infractions are properly managed.

The Ethics Board has the authority to conduct investigations 
directly or to delegate them as necessary. In instances of less 
severe infractions, the board may assign the case to the pertinent 
service line or function. 

Grievance process
After an appropriate investigation of the complaint, the responsible 
parties determine the outcome as either ”substantiated”, ”partially 
substantiated”, ”not substantiated”, or ”insufficient information”.

When the Ethics Board identifies cases as ”substantiated” or 
”partially substantiated,” it thoughtfully considers the appropriate 
disciplinary or other actions in relation to the employees involved, 
taking into account the severity of the misconduct. The range of 
potential consequences includes, but is not limited to, coaching, 
additional training, issuance of verbal and written warnings, 
enrollment in follow-up programs, internal or external counseling, 
suspension of promotions, changes related to roles and, in the 
most serious cases, termination of employment. For more serious 
infractions, the country managing partner and/or regional 
managing partner may be involved in determining the outcome. 

In FY25, EY Norway had one reported infractions, where 
subsequent thorough investigations by the Ethics Board concluded 
that none of these incidents met the criteria to be classified as 
”substantiated”. All cases were handled following the internal 
guidelines. On a Nordic level 70% of reported cases came through 
EYs whistleblower channel Ethics Hotline in FY25.

In EY Norway it is most common for complaints or concerns from 
employees to be initially be raised via managers, counselors, HR 
contacts, or other direct contact persons for our employees. Cases 
may then be raised to the Ethics Board depending on severity
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IRO 20 & 21: Prevention and detection of corruption and bribery

At EY, we understand that our commitment to ethical practices 
is essential for securing our reputation and operational integrity. 
Vigilant anti-corruption measures are crucial not only for 
compliance, but also for fostering a trustworthy environment that 
our clients and partners can rely on.

EY steadfastly opposes corruption in all its forms and underscores 
this stance through a comprehensive anti-corruption policy and 
program. All EY personnel are strictly prohibited from engaging in 
bribery, and any suspicions or instances of such misconduct must 
be reported immediately to the Regional or Country Legal Counsel, 
or via the EY Ethics Hotline. 

Particularly vulnerable to corruption risks, client-serving personnel 
— including employees at all levels and those in administrative, 
management, and supervisory roles — must complete annual anti-
corruption training. This training is a component of the Global 
CoC training, reinforcing their commitment to ethical practices. In 
FY25, 100% of EY Norway employees completed this training, with 
100% adherence in signing CoC. Notably, there were no recorded 
incidents of bribery /no convictions or legal proceedings related to 
anti-corruption and bribery during FY25.

EY embeds anti-corruption initiatives throughout the organization, 
mandating regular training for partners and employees. In FY25, 
the virtual Annual Financial Crime Update training in Norway, 
which included a focus on anti-money laundering, anti-bribery, 
corruption, and insider trading, saw a 97% completion rate.

To protect EY against the risk of bribes given indirectly, it is the 
responsibility of EY personnel when employing agents, consultants 
or other third parties to follow our procedures to ensure our 
commissions or fee arrangements will not be used for bribes. See 
more on these procedures in the section on Risk management, 
quality controls and due diligence.

EY also has a Hospitality and Gifts Global Policy to make it 
easier for employees to determine where to draw the line. In 
addition, EY Global has issued the Global Competition and Anti-
Trust Compliance Policy to emphasize the need for honesty in 
competitive behavior. Both of these policies are overseen by the 
Board of Directors and the Risk Management function. 

To raise awareness of the fight against corruption, we also 
cooperate with external networks. We are a member of 
organizations such as the World Economic Forum (WEF) and 
Transparency International to find ways to address the social and 
economic challenges of our time. In addition, we have signed the 
World Economic Forum Partnering Against Corruption Initiative 
(PACI). 

EY is both a global and country member of United Nation’s Global 
Compact, committing us to do business responsibly by aligning 
EY’s strategies and operations with Ten Principles on human rights, 
labor, environment and anti-corruption.
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Independence

The EY Global Independence Policy and EY’s independence 
processes are designed to ensure that we comply with relevant 
independence standards and regulations on engagement as well as 
company levels. They are based on the international independence 
rules issued by “The International Ethics Standards Board for 
Accountants (IESBA)” from the International Federation of 
Accountants (IFAC).

EY Norway and its employees consider and evaluate independence 
regarding various aspects, including financial relationships, 
employment relationships, business relationships, the 
permissibility of services provided to audit clients, applicable 
firm and partner rotation requirements, fee arrangements, 
audit committee preapproval, and partner remuneration and 
compensation. 

Annually, EY Norway is included in an area-wide process to confirm 
compliance with the EY Global Independence Policy and process 
requirements and to report identified exceptions, if any. 

Our policies and training help avoid any non-compliance for EY 
people. Independence is also an integral part of the EY Global 
Code of Conduct. Each of us is responsible for our own personal 
independence and the independence of EY. We are mindful of our 
own personal financial interests and EY relationships with clients. 

In EY Norway, all partners and employees from manager and up 
must reaffirm that they comply with EY’s independence policy and 

procedures. All partners and employees, i.e., 100%, confirmed 
their independence and 100% attended mandatory training in 
FY25. 

More information on EY Norway’s independence and compliance 
policies can be found in the EY Norway’s Transparency report 
2025. 

EY Norway is not politically active nor carrying out lobbying 
activities. 

None of the members of the administrative, management and 
supervisory bodies have a position in public administration 
(including regulators) in FY25, nor two years before that.

IRO 24: Management of relationships with 
suppliers
EY is committed to responsible supplier management as we 
recognize their critical role in upholding our dedication to 
corporate social responsibility. These practices ensure that we 
align with industry best standards including decent and predictable 
payments and particularly respect for human rights in our value 
chain. You may read more on EY Norway’s supplier due diligence 
on page 43. 

For more information read the annual Norwegian Human Right 
Due Diligence report. The Duty of Impementing and Reporting of 
Equality and Anti-disrcrimination EY Norway.

Oslo, 12 November 2025   
The Board of Directors of ERNST & YOUNG AS 

Tone Mari Flatland  Aina Karlsen Røed  Mette Anett Granheim

Board member  Chair of the board  Board member

    

    

Finn Ole Edstrøm  Arbab Dar  Maria Elise Høyen

Board member  CEO  Board member

    

    

Ivar Vikasæter  Maria G. Strønstad Einar Hersvik

Board member  Board member Board member

Stian Ellingsen Erik Richard Haagensen

Board member Board member

https://www.ey.com/no_no/insights/assurance/eys-aapenhetsrapport-2025
https://www.ey.com/no_no/insights/assurance/eys-aapenhetsrapport-2025
https://www.ey.com/no_no/about-us/corporate-responsibility/menneskerettigheter
https://www.ey.com/no_no/about-us/corporate-responsibility/menneskerettigheter
https://www.ey.com/no_no/about-us/corporate-responsibility/likestilling-inkludering-fy25
https://www.ey.com/no_no/about-us/corporate-responsibility/likestilling-inkludering-fy25
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Financial performance FY25
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Through employment and our services, EY contributes to 
development and growth in Norway. At year-end FY25 2302 
employees and partners worked at EY. A slight reduction of 1% 
compared to last year. We welcomed 497 new employees and the 
turnover rate at EY Norway was 15,8%, almost one percentage 
point higher than at the end of FY24. More details about our 
workforce can be read in chapter S1 People – Own Workforce.

Fiscal Year 2025 
EY Norway has effectively diversified its revenue streams 
during FY25 while maintaining strong expense management, 
resulting in enhanced profit margins. Despite another year 
marked by weak and fluctuating currency, which has introduced 
some unpredictability, EY Norway has shown stable operational 
performance and a robust financial foundation. This positions the 
company well to tackle future challenges in the market landscape. 

The group had a total revenue of MNOK 5,086 compared to MNOK 
5,045 the previous year. The revenue for the parent company 
Ernst & Young AS amounted to MNOK 4,139 compared to MNOK 
4,085 the previous year. 

The group’s annual result shows a profit of TNOK 117,623 
compared to TNOK 100,525 the previous year, while the annual 
result for the parent company Ernst & Young AS shows a profit 
of TNOK 115,890 compared to TNOK 99,330 the previous year. 
The annual result of TNOK 117,623 is after the companies as 
principals in Ernst & Young IS and Ernst & Young Tax Advokatfirma 
IS have received their share of the result according to the company 
agreements. The share of the result in the internal companies is 
charged to other operating expenses in Ernst & Young AS and 
Ernst & Young Advokatfirma AS. 

Continued operations 
In accordance with the Accounting Act § 3-3a, it is confirmed that 
the assumptions of continued operations are present. The group 
has profitable operations and operates within sound financial 
frameworks with a high degree of predictability regarding future 
revenues. 

In our annual and sustainability report, we have accounted for 
risks and other factors that may be significant for the company 
as a whole, with statistics and comments related to the external 
environment. These include market risks EY may be exposed to and 
the main features of the company’s financial risk. Reference is also 
made to information provided in the notes to the annual accounts. 

Capital Structure 
The group aims for a solid capital structure. Of the group’s total 
capital of MNOK 2,175, MNOK 168 constitutes book equity 
(including share capital of MNOK 8.7, share premium of MNOK 5.5, 
and other equity of MNOK 154.2). In addition, direct financing 
is provided in the form of stakeholder deposits and loans from 
the owners, totaling MNOK 812.4. This amounts to 45.1% of the 
total capital as of June 30, 2025. The group has had positive 
liquidity throughout the year. The parent company has an 
approved overdraft facility of MNOK 100. We have evaluated our 
management approach to job creation, economic growth, and CSR 
activities (EY Ripples). Overall, we had a revenue increase of 0.8% 
in 2025 compared to 2024. Additionally, more than 8000 hours 
are spent on CSR activities. We are satisfied with our contribution 
in FY25 and consider our management approach to have proven 
steady and capable of meeting the demands and opportunities 
during the fiscal year. 

Allocation of Annual Profit 
The board proposes that the annual profit of TNOK 115,890 
for the parent company Ernst & Young AS for 2024/25 be fully 
transferred to other equity. 

Tone Mari Flatland  Aina Karlsen Røed  Mette Anett Granheim

Board member  Chair of the board  Board member

    

    

Finn Ole Edstrøm  Arbab Dar  Maria Elise Høyen

Board member  CEO  Board member

    

    

Ivar Vikasæter  Maria G. Strønstad Einar Hersvik

Board member  Board member Board member

Stian Ellingsen Erik Richard Haagensen

Board member Board member

Oslo, 12 November 2025   
The Board of Directors of ERNST & YOUNG AS 
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Ernst & Young AS
Income statement 1.7.-30.6.

(NOK '000)

Parent company Group
2024 2025 Note 2025 2024

Operating income
4 084 958 4 139 101 2 Revenue 5 086 028 5 044 678

Operating expenses
535 509 549 547 3 Purchased services 570 099 660 979

1 962 723 1 845 788 4 Employee costs 2 360 592 2 303 468
47 488 44 205 5 Depreciation 44 445 67 626

1 467 520 1 605 030 4,6 Other operating expenses 1 964 027 1 897 741
4 013 240 4 044 570 Total operating expenses 4 939 163 4 929 814

71 718 94 531 Operating profit 146 865 114 864

Finance income and finance costs
27 861 17 945 Interest income
24 584 39 104 7 Income on investments in subsidiary
59 979 87 751 8 Other finance income 141 892 90 997
17 324 18 903 Interest costs
37 222 74 968 8 Other finance costs 135 703 69 459
57 878 50 929 Net financial items 6 189 21 538

129 595 145 460 Profit before tax 153 054 136 402

30 265 29 570 9 Income tax expense 35 431 35 877

99 330 115 890 Profit for the year 117 623 100 525

Allocations
99 330 115 890 10 Transfers to other equity 117 623 100 525

Ernst & Young AS
Balance sheet statement as at 30 June

(NOK '000)

Parent company Group
2024 2025 Note 2025 2024

Non-current assets
1 508 3 005 9 Deferred tax assets 6 043 2 089
1 508 3 005 Total intangible assets 6 043 2 089

Tangible assets
136 859 119 140 5 Property, plant and equipment 119 340 137 520
136 859 119 140 Total tangible assets 119 340 137 520

Financial non-current assets
20 063 20 063 7 Investments in subsidiaries 0 0
16 350 16 350 11 Shares and other investments 16 350 16 350
36 413 36 413 Total financial non-current assets 16 350 16 350

174 780 158 558 Total non-current assets 141 733 155 959

Current assets
Receivables

1 051 505 891 866 12 Trade and other receivables 979 020 1 026 689
152 038 175 318 12 Work in progress 242 149 216 189
211 878 176 690 12 Other receivables 183 767 216 223

1 415 421 1 243 874 Total receivables 1 404 936 1 459 101

417 075 562 858 13 Cash and cash equivalents 628 467 466 675

1 832 496 1 806 732 Total current assets 2 033 403 1 925 776

2 007 276 1 965 290 Total assets 2 175 136 2 081 735
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Ernst & Young AS
Balance sheet statement as at 30 June

(NOK '000)

Parent company Group
2024 2025 Note 2025 2024

Equity
Paid-in equity

8 701 8 701 10, 14 Share capital 8 701 8 701
-54 0 10 Own shares 0 -54

5 538 5 538 10 Share premium 5 538 5 538
14 185 14 239 Total paid-in equity 14 239 14 185

Retained earnings
139 984 156 832 10 Other equity 154 191 136 800
139 984 156 832 Total retained earnings 154 191 136 800

154 169 171 071 Total equity 168 430 150 985

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities

172 429 172 321 15 Other non-current liabilities 183 995 179 804
172 429 172 321 Total non-current liabilities 183 995 179 804

Current liabilities
349 164 281 164 16 Trade and other payables 240 685 295 668

14 535 28 629 9 Tax payable 37 849 19 025
337 052 294 192 13 Public charges payable 355 766 360 293
979 927 1 017 913 17 Other current liabilities 1 188 411 1 075 960

1 680 678 1 621 898 Total current liabilities 1 822 711 1 750 946

1 853 107 1 794 219 Total liabilities 2 006 706 1 930 750

2 007 276 1 965 290 Total equity and liabilities 2 175 136 2 081 735

30 June 2025
Oslo, 12 November 2025
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Ernst & Young AS
Cash Flow Statement

(NOK '000)

Parent company Group
2024 2025 Note 2025 2024

Operating activities
129 595 145 460 Profit before tax 153 053 136 402
-38 808 -16 975 9 Tax paid in the period -20 560 -41 657
47 488 44 205 5 Depreciation 44 445 67 626
19 894 0 Depreciation of goodwill
19 849 159 639 12 Change in accounts receivable 47 669 83 558

-33 200 -23 280 12 Change in work in progress -25 960 -47 222
19 733 -68 000 16 Change in accounts payable -54 982 -25 274
17 297 -42 859 Change in public charges payable -4 526 19 377

168 116 73 173 Change in other accruals 144 906 160 087

349 964 271 363 Net cash flows from operating activities 284 045 352 896

Investing activities
0 306 Receivables from disposal of assets 580 0

-48 497 -26 791 Purchase of tangible assets -26 846 -48 553
100 0 Sold shares in Bjørvika Konferansesenter AS 0 0

95 343 10 Proceeds from sale of own shares 343 95
-317 0 10 Payments from purchase of own shares 0 -317

-48 619 -26 142 Net cash flows used in investing activities -25 923 -48 775

Financing activities
0 -13 425 Payments of long-term debt -14 425 -1 950

26 026 13 317 Deposit of committed capital 18 616 27 051
-109 752 -99 330 10 Dividend payments -100 520 -111 376

-83 726 -99 438 Net cash flows used in financing activities -96 329 -86 275

217 619 145 783 Net change in cash and cash equivalents 161 793 217 846
199 456 417 075 Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July 466 675 248 828
417 075 562 858 Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 628 467 466 675

Ernst & Young AS
Notes to the 2025 financial statements

Note 1 - Accounting principles

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and generally accepted accounting
principles in Norway. The Company has a diverging financial year, the fiscal year ends on June 30.

Ernst & Young AS is included as the principal in Ernst & Young Indre Selskap. The participants' results are included in other
operating expenses.

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are valued at cost in the parent company accounts. The investment is valued as cost of the shares in the subsidiary,
less any impairment losses. An impairment loss is recognised if the impairment is not considered temporary, in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. Impairment losses are reversed if the reason for the impairment loss is no longer present.

Dividends and other distributions from subsidiaries are recognised in the same year as they are recognised in the financial
statement of the provider.

Changes in Accounting Policies
There have been no material changes in the accounting policies applied by the Company during the current reporting period. All
policies have been applied consistently to all periods presented.

Basis for consoldiation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Ernst & Young AS, subsidiaries and associated
companies specified in note 7. The consolidated financial statements are prepared as if the Group was one economic entity.
Intra-group transactions, unrealized gains and balances between the companies within the group are eliminated.

Operating income
Revenues consists mainly of earned audit and advisory fees. The recognition of income is made when the service has been delivered.

Classification and valuation of balance sheet items
Current assets and current liabilities include items due to payment within one year after the balance sheet date.

Other items are classified as non-current asset/non-current liabilities. Current assets are valued at the lower of cost and fair value.
Current liabilities are recognized at nominal value.

Non-current assets are valued at cost, less depreciation and impairment losses. Non-current liabilities are recognized at nominal value.

Receivables
Accounts receivable and other receivables are carried at their nominal amount less a provision for expected losses. A provision for
loss is made on the basis of individual assessments of the receivables. For other receivables, an unspecified provision is made to
cover expected losses.
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Ernst & Young AS
Notes to the 2025 financial statements

Note 1 - Accounting principles

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and generally accepted accounting
principles in Norway. The Company has a diverging financial year, the fiscal year ends on June 30.

Ernst & Young AS is included as the principal in Ernst & Young Indre Selskap. The participants' results are included in other
operating expenses.

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are valued at cost in the parent company accounts. The investment is valued as cost of the shares in the subsidiary,
less any impairment losses. An impairment loss is recognised if the impairment is not considered temporary, in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. Impairment losses are reversed if the reason for the impairment loss is no longer present.

Dividends and other distributions from subsidiaries are recognised in the same year as they are recognised in the financial
statement of the provider.

Changes in Accounting Policies
There have been no material changes in the accounting policies applied by the Company during the current reporting period. All
policies have been applied consistently to all periods presented.

Basis for consoldiation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Ernst & Young AS, subsidiaries and associated
companies specified in note 7. The consolidated financial statements are prepared as if the Group was one economic entity.
Intra-group transactions, unrealized gains and balances between the companies within the group are eliminated.

Operating income
Revenues consists mainly of earned audit and advisory fees. The recognition of income is made when the service has been delivered.

Classification and valuation of balance sheet items
Current assets and current liabilities include items due to payment within one year after the balance sheet date.

Other items are classified as non-current asset/non-current liabilities. Current assets are valued at the lower of cost and fair value.
Current liabilities are recognized at nominal value.

Non-current assets are valued at cost, less depreciation and impairment losses. Non-current liabilities are recognized at nominal value.

Receivables
Accounts receivable and other receivables are carried at their nominal amount less a provision for expected losses. A provision for
loss is made on the basis of individual assessments of the receivables. For other receivables, an unspecified provision is made to
cover expected losses.

Work in progress
Work in progress (earned, but not invoiced, fees) are valued at their realizable value.

Foreign currency
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate on the transaction date. Receivables and payables in foreign
currencies are valued at the exchange rate on the balance sheet date. Foreign currency changes are recognized in the income statement
when occurred during the accounting period.

Tangible assets
Tangible assets are carried in the balance sheet and depreciated linearly over the asset's expected lifetime. Costs for maintenance
are expensed as incurred, whereas cost for upgrading or improvement is added to the asset's cost and depreciated in line with the
asset. If the asset's recoverable amount is lower than the carrying value of the asset, the asset is written down to the recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the present value of the future cash flows generated by the asset.

Pensions
The Company has a defined contribution based pension scheme that includes all employees. The pension premium is considered a
pension cost and is classified together with salary costs.

Taxes
The tax expense in the income statement includes both the current period's payable tax and changes in deferred tax. Differences
that exist between accounting and tax values are recognized through Ernst & Young Indre Selskap and are allocated to the
participants. Tax benefits that are likely to be utilized through future taxable income are recognized on the balance sheet.

Statement of cash flows
The cash flow statement has been prepared using the indirect method.

Provision for liabilities
A provision is recognized when the company has an obligation (legal or constructive) resulting from a past event, provided that it is
probable (more likely than not) that an outflow of economic resources will occur and that the amount can be measured reliably. If
the effect is significant, the provision is calculated based on the best estimate. If there is a significant time gap between the balance
sheet date and the settlement date, the provision is calculated at present value.
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Note 2 - Revenue
(NOK '000)

Parent company Group
2024 2025 2025 2024

By service line
2 029 892 2 093 725 Audit/audit-related services (Assurance) 2 093 725 2 029 892
1 429 724 1 437 989 Consultancy (Consulting) 1 588 938 1 630 111

68 111 68 678 Tax & Law (TAX) 876 750 839 476
540 645 516 046 Transaction advisory (SAT) 516 046 540 645

16 586 22 663 Other income 10 568 4 554
4 084 958 4 139 101 Total 5 086 028 5 044 678

Geographical distribution of income
3 134 337 3 197 130 Eastern Norway 3 928 556 3 870 719

665 829 669 354 Western Norway 822 486 822 258
193 650 184 764 Mid-Norway 227 033 239 146

91 142 87 853 Northern Norway 107 952 112 555
4 084 958 4 139 101 Total 5 086 028 5 044 678

Note 3 - Purchased services
(NOK '000)

In the period 2024/2025, TNOK 247 643 has been invoiced from other Norwegian EY companies to Ernst & Young AS, where the
purchase of hours for its own clients is classified as purchased services, while operating expenses fall under other operating expenses.
Ernst & Young AS has invoiced other Norwegian EY companies for TNOK 216 243 in the same period.

The share of purchases of services from companies that are part of EY Europe SRL, which are recharged to clients, amounts to:
Parent company Group

2024 2025 2025 2024
174 652 132 923 Purchased services 215 808 264 897

Note 4 - Salaries, number of employees, loans to employees and auditor fees
(NOK '000)

Salary expenses
Parent company Group

2024 2025 2025 2024
1 614 177 1 508 406 Salaries, bonus 1 917 687 1 891 805

249 608 242 587 Social security costs 309 812 292 874
69 953 69 082 Pension costs 88 251 77 165
28 985 25 713 Other benefits 44 842 41 624

1 962 723 1 845 788 Total 2 360 592 2 303 468

1 755 1 615 Number of full-time employees 1 968 2 047

The requirement for mandatory occupational pension is fulfilled according to Norwegian Accounting Act section 7-30a. The Group
has a defined contribution pension scheme that includes all employees. The pension premium is considered a pension cost and is
classified together with salary costs.

Management and Board
The CEO is an equity partner in the Company. The CEO and other executives  who are participants in Ernst & Young Indre Selskap do
not receive any remuneration from the principal, Ernst & Young AS and Ernst & Young Advokatfirma AS. Instead, they receive a
share of the annual profit. The CEOs share of annual profit for 2024/25 amounted toTNOK 4 058.

The Board members have not received any fees in excess of normal salaries or remunerations in the period 1 July 2024 to 30 June
2025. Note 14 provides details on the Board member's and CEO's shareholding. The CEO and Chair of the Board have no bonus or
severance pay agreements.

Partners in the company who retire due to age may receive an annual compensation of 7G under specific conditions until they turn 67.

Auditor
Auditor fees exclusive of VAT amount to:
Parent company Group

2024 2025 2025 2024
669 719 Statutory audit 1 141 988

80 117 Other non-audit services 142 103
749 836 Total 1 283 1 091

Note 5 - Property, plant and equipment
(NOK '000)

Parent company

Art
Leasehold

improvements*

Machinery
and plant

**

Operating
equipment, furniture,

tools etc ** Total
Acqusition cost at 01.07.2024 2 186 54 722 135 844 93 164 285 916
Additions 0 5 197 17 799 3 795 26 791
Disposals 0 -8 432 -16 -8 448
Cost at 30.06.2025 2 186 59 919 145 210 96 943 304 259

Acc. depreciation at 30.06.2025 0 -25 071 -114 347 -53 844 -193 262
Depr. on disposed assets 0 8 129 14 8 143
Net book value at 30.06.2025 2 186 34 848 38 992 43 113 119 140

Depreciation for the year 0 5 375 24 209 14 621 44 205
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Group

Art
Leasehold

improvements*

Machinery
and plant

**

Operating
equipment, furniture,

tools etc ** Total
Acqusition cost at 01.07.2024 2 186 54 932 136 422 96 373 289 914
Additions 0 5 252 17 799 3 795 26 846
Disposals 0 -264 -8 744 -2 937 -11 945
Cost at 30.06.2025 2 186 59 920 145 477 97 231 304 815

Acc. depreciation at 30.06.2025 0 -25 232 -114 756 -56 850 -196 838
Depr. on disposed assets 0 161 8 366 2 837 11 364
Net book value at 30.06.2025 2 186 34 849 39 087 43 218 119 340

Depreciation for the year 0 5 400 24 316 14 729 44 445

**Plant and equipment are depreciated straight-line from 3 to 5 years based on their expected lifetime.

* Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the lease period, the longest lease contract expires in 2039.

Note 6 - Other operating expenses
(NOK '000)

Parent company Group
2024 2025 2025 2024

153 408 149 136 Lease of premises 163 284 168 880
204 938 185 650 Office operations 205 825 186 378

60 266 64 139 Training and further education 81 080 69 601
635 476 662 140 Ernst & Young Indre Selskap 771 680 710 796
301 322 426 631 Other costs 613 329 641 410
112 110 117 332 Other personnel costs 128 830 120 676

1 467 520 1 605 030 Total other operating expenses 1 964 027 1 897 741

The share of other operating expenses from companies that are part of EY Europe SRL amounts to TNOK 19 100 compared to TNOK
8 646 the previous year.

The Company has obligations in accordance with signed lease agreements. The duration of these varies, with the longest
contract extending until the year 2039. The Company, being the principal in Ernst & Young Indre Selskap, has received its share of
the profit according to the partnership agreement. The profit share in the internal company has been charged to other operating
expenses.

Note 7 - Subsidiaries and associated companies
(NOK '000)

Company Office Owner share Voting rights
Ernst & Young Compliance Services AS Oslo 100 % 100 %
EY Skye Consulting AS Kolbotn 100 % 100 %
EY BMF AS Oslo 100 % 100 %
TC Newco Norway I AS Oslo 100 % 100 %
Ernst & Young Advokatfirma AS Oslo 0 % 100 %

Equity and profit for the year as of  30.06.2025 Equity Profit for the year
Ernst & Young Compliance Services AS (org. nr.: 946 823 465) 105 8 725
EY Skye Consulting AS (org. nr.: 995 655 144) 15 513 27 631
EY BMF AS (org. nr.: 931 041 037) 30 960
TC Newco Norway I AS (org. nr.: 931 040 375) 30 0
Ernst & Young Advokatfirma AS (org. nr.: 984 328 796) 1 844 1 733

Note 8 - Other finance income/other finance costs
(NOK '000)

The effects from gains/losses on settlements of receivables and payables in foreign currencies are recognized on a gross basis.
Foreign currency effects in the income statement arise from differences between the exchange rate on the invoice date and
payment date in addition to adjustments of receivables and debt in foreign currencies to the rate on the balance sheet date.

The net result effect from foreign exchange differences constituted a loss of TNOK 10 754 in 2024/25 compared with a loss of
TNOK 3 454 last year for the Group. For Ernst & Young AS, this amounted to a loss of MNOK 10,8 in 2024/25 against a loss of MNOK
3,4 last year.



Ernst & Young AS Ernst & Young AS

Annual report 2024/2025    |  65

Note 9 - Income tax
(NOK '000)

Parent company Group
2024 2025 2025 2024

Specification of the tax expense of the year:
27 248 30 457 Tax payable on the profit for the year 38 774 32 125

1 079 611 Adjustment of previous year's provision 610 1 079
1 939 -1 498 Change in deferred tax -3 953 2 673

30 265 29 570 Total tax expense of the year 35 431 35 877

Calculation of tax payable in tax expense of the year:
129 595 145 460 Ordinary profit before tax 153 053 136 402

3 070 -13 825 Permanent differences 5 225 21 770
-8 812 6 808 Temporary differences 17 969 -12 150

123 853 138 443 General income 176 247 146 022
123 853 138 443 Basis for tax payable 176 247 146 022

27 248 30 457 Tax payable (22%) of the tax basis of the year 38 774 32 125

Specification of the basis for deferred tax assets:
433 384 Non-current assets -6 936 2 450

-1 069 -4 001 Current assets -4 166 -1 218
-15 156 -17 195 Other provisions for obligations -23 515 -19 669

8 939 7 151 Gain and loss account 7 151 8 939

-6 853 -13 661
Total change in temporary differences
affecting the tax basis -27 466 -9 497

-1 508 -3 005 Deferred tax assets/deferred tax (22%) -6 043 -2 089

Specification of tax payable in the balance sheet:
27 248 31 068 Tax payable on the profit for the year 38 774 33 204
29 686 27 248 Assessed tax previous fiscal year 33 204 34 538

-42 399 -29 687 Advance tax paid in previous fiscal year -34 129 -48 716
14 535 28 629 Total tax payable 37 849 19 025

Temporary differences concerning Ernst & Young Indre Selskap are also included in the basis for deferred tax. Ernst & Young AS'
share as of 30.06.2025 constitutes TNOK -13 661 (22%: -3 005) against TNOK -6 853 (22%: -1 508) as of 30.06.2024. A provision for
loss on contracts with relating temporary difference is in its entirety allocated to the internal partnership.

Note 10 - Equity
(NOK '000)

Parent company

Share capital Own shares
Share

premium Other equity Total
Equity at 01.07.2024 8 701 -54 5 538 139 984 154 169
Profit for the year 0 0 0 115 890 115 890
Dividend 0 0 0 -99 330 -99 330
Sale of own shares 0 54 0 288 342
Equity at 30.06.2025 8 701 0 5 538 156 832 171 071

Group

Share capital Own shares
Share

premium Other equity Total
Equity at 01.07.2024 8 701 -54 5 538 136 800 150 985
Profit for the year 0 0 0 117 623 117 623
Dividend 0 0 0 -100 520 -100 520
Sale of own shares 0 54 0 288 342
Equity at 30.06.2025 8 701 0 5 538 154 191 168 430

During 2024/2025, 54 shares were sold. The share price is determined in accordance with the value in the financial statements for
Ernst & Young AS for the period 1.7.23-30.6.24, adjusted for additional dividend paid on 17.2.2025 at NOK 6 342,71 per share.

Note 11 - Shares and investments in other companies
(NOK '000)

Company Acquisition cost  Book value
EY Global Finance Inc., ordinary shares 6 6
EY Global Finance Inc., cumulative preference shares 16 344 16 344
Total 16 350 16 350
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Note 12 - Receivables
(NOK '000)

Parent company Group
2024 2025 2025 2024

Trade and other receivables
1 061 880 917 503 Accounts receivable at nominal value 1 012 479 1 040 649

-10 374 -25 636 Provision for losses -33 459 -13 960
152 038 175 318 Work in progress 242 149 216 189

1 203 543 1 067 184 Total 1 221 169 1 242 878

25 726 11 041 Accounts receivable on associated companies 48 637 48 637
126 071 41 010 Accounts receivable on group companies 0 0

Other receivables
82 523 61 669 Prepaid expenses 173 529 207 968

129 355 115 021 Other receivables 10 238 8 255
211 878 176 690 Total 183 767 216 223

Fee income that has been earned but not invoiced is recorded as earned, not invoiced income, and represent work in progress. These
are assessed at realizable value.

Of accounts receivable, receivables to companies in EY Europe SRL includes:
25 726 11 041 Accounts receivable from associated companies 26 805 48 637

126 071 41 010 Accounts receivable from group companies 0 0

Note 13 - Bank deposits
(NOK '000)

A group account scheme has been established in Sparebank 1 Sør-Norge with Ernst & Young AS as the formal owner. The net balance in
the group account system constitutes Ernst & Young AS' balance against the bank connection and is presented as a bank deposit.
The individual companies included in the group account scheme formally have their balance against Ernst & Young AS.
As at 30.06.2025, the balance of all accounts included in the group account system amounted to MNOK 628.

Bank deposits include accounts for employees tax deduction and operating accounts. Employee withheld tax constitutes TNOK
57 406 as of 30.06.25 against TNOK 58 767 the year before. In Ernst & Young AS, withheld tax constitutes TNOK 46 124 as at 30 June 2025
compared with TNOK 54 644 the year before. The company has an unused credit facility of 100 MNOK as of 30 June 2025.

Bank guarantees related to lease agreements amount to MNOK 76 as of 30 June 2025.

The company's main banking relationship has secured its engagement through a guarantee by the company itself, as well as a pledge
on accounts receivable. This pledge amounts to MNOK 1 000.

Note 14 - Share capital and shareholder information
(NOK '000)

The share capital in Ernst & Young AS as at 30.06.2025 consists of:
Number Nominal value Carried amount

A shares 8 700 1 8 700
B shares 1 1 1
Total 8 701 8 701

Owner structure
The parent company Ernst & Young AS, a registered Norwegian audit firm, is 99,99% owned by Norwegian partners with
49% of the voting rights in the Company (A shares). EY Europe SRL, a Belgian registered audit firm, owns 0,01% of the shares
and has 51% of the voting rights (B share). Ernst & Young is organized as an internal partnership with Ernst & Young AS as
the principal, and the Norwegian partners as sleeping partners. The business in the internal partnership comprises all activities
carried out by Ernst & Young AS. Ernst & Young AS owns 100% of the Norwegian limited companies EY Skye Consulting AS, EY BMF AS
Ernst & Young Compliance Services AS and TC Newco Norway I AS.

Ernst & Young Advokatfirma AS is a company within the EY network that is not formally owned by Ernst & Young AS, but due to
cooperation and contractual relationships, as well as the governance of these entities, Ernst & Young Advokatfirma AS is also
included in the consolidated financial statement.

The A shares in Ernst & Young AS are owned by 131 shareholders with equal voting rights. Ernst & Young AS has the following
share distribution as of 30 June 2025, with personal shareholding, where each individual is the sole owner:

A shares B share Ownership     Voting rights
Arbab Dar, CEO 90 0 1,03 % 0,37 %
Aina Karlsen Røed, Chair of the Board 250 0 2,87 % 0,37 %
Finn Ole Edstrøm 250 0 2,87 % 0,37 %
Einar Hersvik 150 0 1,72 % 0,37 %
Erik Richard Haagensen 100 0 1,15 % 0,37 %
Mette Anett Granheim 50 0 0,57 % 0,37 %
Tone Mari Flatland 20 0 0,23 % 0,37 %
Total Board 910 0 10,46 % 2,62 %

Shareholders with 250 and 200 A shares:
Asbjørn Ler 250 0 2,87 % 0,37 %
Eirik Albrigtsen 250 0 2,87 % 0,37 %
Stig Thorgersen 250 0 2,87 % 0,37 %
Aleksander Grydeland 250 0 2,87 % 0,37 %
Nils Kristian Bø 250 0 2,87 % 0,37 %
Willy Eidissen 250 0 2,87 % 0,37 %
Eirik Moe 200 0 2,30 % 0,37 %
Anders Gøbel 200 0 2,30 % 0,37 %
Kjetil Rimstad 200 0 2,30 % 0,37 %
Kjetil Kristensen 200 0 2,30 % 0,37 %
Christian Mjaanes 200 0 2,30 % 0,37 %
Other shareholders with 150 or less 5 290 0 60,80 % 42,27 %
Total A shares 8 700 0 99,99 % 49,00 %
B share, EY Europe SRL 0 1 0,01 % 51,00 %
Total number of shares (A and B shares) 8 701 100,00 % 100,00 %
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Note 15 - Specification of other non-current liabilities
(NOK '000)

Parent company Group
2024 2025 2025 2024

172 429 172 321 Agreed capital contributions 183 995 179 804
172 429 172 321 Total non current liabilities 183 995 179 804

The participants in the internal partnership (141) are committed by capital contributions. Paid-in capital from the participants
is interest-bearing based on the market rate that the Company can achieve by long-term financing in the loan market. Repayment
of capital normally takes place in connection with a withdrawal from the Company.

Note 16 - Accounts payable
(NOK '000)

Parent company Group
2024 2025 2025 2024

349 164 281 164 Accounts payable 240 685 295 668

Of accounts payable, debt to companies in EY Europe SRL includes:
20 334 12 118 Accounts payable to associated companies 20 120 30 407
14 100 35 265 Accounts payable to group companies 0 0

Accounts payable in foreign currency are recorded at the exchange rate as of 30 June 2025.

Note 17 - Specification of other current liabilities
(NOK '000)

Parent company Group
2024 2025 2025 2024

501 671 551 231 Debt to participants in the internal partnership 628 410 546 924
361 131 342 599 Accrued salaries, holiday pay etc. 417 188 391 870
117 125 124 082 Other accrued costs 142 813 137 167
979 927 1 017 913 Total 1 188 411 1 075 960
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To the General Meeting of Ernst & Youbg S

Independent auditor`s report

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Ernst & Young AS (the Company), showing a profit of 
TNOK 115 890 in the financial statements of the Company and a profit of TNOK 117 623 in the 
financial statements of the Group.

The financial statements comprise:

 the financial statements of the Company, which comprise the balance sheet as of 30 June 
2025, and the income statement and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and 
notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and

 the financial statements of the Group, which comprise the balance sheet as of 30 June 2025, 
and the income statement and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to 
the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion:

 the financial statements comply with applicable statutory requirements,
 the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as 

of 30 June 2025, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and practices 
generally accepted in Norway, and

 the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as of 30 
June 2025, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and practices generally 
accepted in Norway.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company and the 
Group as required by relevant laws and regulations in Norway and the International Ethics Standards 
Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International 
Independence Standards) (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Information

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director (management) are responsible for the information 
in the Board of Directors’ report and the other information presented with the financial statements. 
The other information comprises the Annual report. Our opinion on the financial statements does not 
cover the information in the Board of Directors’ report or the other information presented with the 
financial statements.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the information in 
the Board of Directors’ report and for the other information presented with the financial statements. 
The purpose is to consider if there is material inconsistency between the information in the Board of 
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Directors’ report and the other information presented with the financial statements and the financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise the information in the Board of 
Directors’ report and for the other information presented with the financial statements otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. We are required to report that fact if there is a material 
misstatement in the Board of Directors’ report and the other information presented with the financial 
statements. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Based on our knowledge obtained in the audit, in our opinion the Board of Directors’ report

 is consistent with the financial statements and

 contains the information required by applicable statutory requirements

Responsibilities of management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and practices generally 
accepted in Norway, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s and 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting insofar as it is not likely that the enterprise 
will cease operations.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s and the Group’s internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s and the 
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Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in 
the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Company and the Group to cease to 
continue as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities 
or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group 
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit.

Oslo, 12 November 2025
Crowe Partner Revisjon AS

Nils Frode Johansen 
State Authorised Public Accountant
(This document is signed electronically)
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To the General Meeting of Ernst & Young AS

Independent sustainability auditor's limited assurance report

Limited assurance conclusion

We have conducted a limited assurance engagement on the consolidated sustainability statement of 
Ernst & Young AS, included in the Board of Directors’ report (the “Sustainability Statement”), as at 
30 June 2025 and for the year then ended.

Based on the procedures we have performed and the evidence we have obtained, nothing has come 
to our attention that causes us to believe that the Sustainability Statement is not prepared, in all 
material respects, in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act section 2-3, including:

 compliance with the WEF-IBC Index, including that the process carried out by the Company 
to identify the information reported in the Sustainability Statement (the “Process”) is in 
accordance with the description set out in the appendices.

Basis for conclusion

We conducted our limited assurance engagement in accordance with International Standard on 
Assurance Engagements (ISAE) 3000 (Revised), Assurance engagements other than audits or 
reviews of historical financial information (“ISAE 3000 (Revised)”), issued by the International Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board.

We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
conclusion. Our responsibilities under this standard are further described in the Sustainability auditor’s 
responsibilities section of our report.

Our independence and quality management
We have complied with the independence and other ethical requirements as required by relevant laws 
and regulations in Norway and the International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics Standards Board 
for Accountants (IESBA Code), which is founded on fundamental principles of integrity, objectivity, 
professional competence and due care, confidentiality and professional behaviour.

The firm applies International Standard on Quality Management 1, which requires the firm to design, 
implement and operate a system of quality management including policies or procedures regarding 
compliance with ethical requirements, professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory 
requirements.

Responsibilities for the Sustainability Statement

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director (management) are responsible for designing and 
implementing a process to identify the information reported in the Sustainability Statement in 
accordance with the WEF-IBC Index and for disclosing this Process in the appendices of the 
Sustainability Statement. This responsibility includes:

 understanding the context in which the Group's activities and business relationships take 
place and developing an understanding of its affected stakeholders;

 the identification of the actual and potential impacts (both negative and positive) related to 
sustainability matters, as well as risks and opportunities that affect, or could reasonably be 
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expected to affect, the Group's financial position, financial performance, cash flows, access to 
finance or cost of capital over the short-, medium-, or long-term;

 the assessment of the materiality of the identified impacts, risks and opportunities related to 
sustainability matters by selecting and applying appropriate thresholds; and

 making assumptions that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Management is further responsible for the preparation of the Sustainability Statement, in accordance 
with the Norwegian Accounting Act section 2-3, including:

 compliance with the WEF-IBC Index;
 designing, implementing and maintaining such internal control that management determines 

is necessary to enable the preparation of the Sustainability Statement that is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and

 the selection and application of appropriate sustainability reporting methods and making 
assumptions and estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Inherent limitations in preparing the Sustainability Statement

In reporting forward-looking information, management is required to prepare the forward-looking 
information on the basis of disclosed assumptions about events that may occur in the future and 
possible future actions by the Group. Actual outcomes are likely to be different since anticipated 
events frequently do not occur as expected.

Sustainability auditor’s responsibilities

Our responsibility is to plan and perform the assurance engagement to obtain limited assurance about 
whether the Sustainability Statement is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, and to issue a limited assurance report that includes our conclusion. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence decisions of users taken on the basis of the Sustainability 
Statement as a whole. 

As part of a limited assurance engagement in accordance with ISAE 3000 (Revised) we exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the engagement. 

Our responsibilities in respect of the Sustainability Statement, in relation to the Process, include:

 obtaining an understanding of the Process, but not for the purpose of providing a conclusion 
on the effectiveness of the Process, including the outcome of the Process;

 considering whether the information identified addresses the applicable disclosure 
requirements of the WEF-IBC Index; and

 designing and performing procedures to evaluate whether the Process is consistent with the 
Company's description of its Process set out in appendices.

Our other responsibilities in respect of the Sustainability Statement include:

 identifying where material misstatements are likely to arise, whether due to fraud or error; and

 designing and performing procedures responsive to where material misstatements are likely 
to arise in the Sustainability Statement. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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Summary of the work performed

A limited assurance engagement involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about the 
Sustainability Statement. The procedures in a limited assurance engagement vary in nature and 
timing from, and are less in extent than for, a reasonable assurance engagement. Consequently, the 
level of assurance obtained in a limited assurance engagement is substantially lower than the 
assurance that would have been obtained had a reasonable assurance engagement been performed. 

The nature, timing and extent of procedures selected depend on professional judgement, including 
the identification of disclosures where material misstatements are likely to arise in the Sustainability 
Statement, whether due to fraud or error.

In conducting our limited assurance engagement, with respect to the Process, we:

 obtained an understanding of the Process by:
o performing inquiries to understand the sources of the information used by 

management (e.g., stakeholder engagement, business plans and strategy 
documents); and

o reviewing the Company’s internal documentation of its Process; and

 evaluated whether the evidence obtained from our procedures with respect to the Process 
implemented by the Company was consistent with the description of the Process set out in 
the appendices.

In conducting our limited assurance engagement, with respect to the Sustainability Statement, we:

 obtained an understanding of the Group's reporting processes relevant to the preparation of 
its Sustainability Statement by

o obtaining an understanding of the Group's control environment, processes, control 

activities and information system relevant to the preparation of the Sustainability 
Statement, but not for the purpose of providing a conclusion on the effectiveness of 
the Group's internal control

 evaluated whether the information identified by the Process is included in the Sustainability 
Statement;

 evaluated whether the structure and the presentation of the Sustainability Statement is in 
accordance with the WEF-IBC Index;

 performed inquires of relevant personnel and analytical procedures on selected information in 
the Sustainability Statement;

 where applicable, compared disclosures in the Sustainability Statement with the 
corresponding disclosures in the financial statements and other sections of the Board of 
Directors’ report;

 evaluated the methods, assumptions and data for developing estimates and forward-looking 
information;

Oslo, 13 November 2025
CROWE PARTNER REVISJON AS

Nils Frode Johansen
State Authorised Public Accountant - Sustainability Auditor
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Appendix I: WEF IBC- index

Measuring Stakeholder Capitalism: Towards Common Metrics and Consistent Reporting of Sustainable Value Creation | World Economic 
Forum (weforum.org)

Header Header and page in the report

Principles of Governance

Setting purpose c ‘Our Purpose and Strategy, page 11

Governance body composition c EY Norway Board of Directors incl Appendix, page 13

Material issues impacting stakeholders c EY Norway’s Material Sustainabilty Impacts, Risks and Opportunities, 
page 17

Anti-corruption c Prevention and detection of corruption and Bribery, page 56

Protected ethics advice and reporting mechanisms c ‘Business Conduct Policies and Corporate Culture, page 54

Integrating risk and opportunity into business process c EY Norway’s Material Sustainabilty Impacts, Risks and Opportunities, 
page 17

Purpose-led management c ‘Our Purpose and Strategy, page 11

Planet

Greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, c Greenhous Gas Emissions, page 27

TCFD implementation c EY reports on climate risks and opportunities globally in accordance 
with the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosure (TCFD) 
framework. For more information on TCFD, please see the EY Global 
Environmental Report https://www.ey.com/en_gl/value-realized-
annual-report, directed on page 7

Land use and ecological sensitivity c Deemed not applicable as EY in Norway does not have any offices in key 
areas for Biodiversity

Water consumption and withdrawal water-stressed areas c All EY offices in Norway have a low water-related risk according to the 
WRI Aqueduct Water Risk Atlas tool. The total water consumption is also 
low based on previous year’s measurements.

Paris-aligned GHG emission targets, Impact of GHG emissions c EY Norways Trajectory to SBt and transition plan for climate change, 
page 28 and Targets For Change page 26

Header Header and page in the report

People — Medarbeidere

Diversity and inclusion c Inclusiveness for all, page 38

Pay equality (%) c Compensation, page 40

Wage level % c Compensation, page 40

Risk for incidents of child, forced or compulsory labour c Workers in Value Chain — Risk Assesment and Processes, page 46

Health and safety c Health, Environment and Safety, page 36

Training provided c Continuous Learning at EY Norway, page 37

Emploeyee well-being c Health, Environment and Safety, page 36

Discrimination and harassment c Business Conduct Policies and Corporate Culture, page 54, Ethics 
Board, page 55

Prosperity — bærekraftig vekst

Absolute number and rate of employment c Financial Statement, page 59

Economic contribution c Economic Contribution, page 52

Total tax paid c Economic Contribution, page 52

Total R&D expenses c EY globally and in Norway does not have a dedicated department for 
research and development; instead, our investments are directed 
towards improving products and services for customers and employees. 
During the fiscal year 2024, EY globally concluded a three-year 
commitment to invest 10 billion USD in its employees, technology, and 
innovation. Each year, EY globally invests more than 1 billion USD to 
develop AI platforms and products.

Infrastructure investments and services supported c S4 Consumers and end-user, the full chapter

Significant indirect economic impacts c Community Investment, page 51

Social value generated c Community Investment, page 51

https://www.weforum.org/publications/measuring-stakeholder-capitalism-towards-common-metrics-and-consistent-reporting-of-sustainable-value-creation/
https://www.weforum.org/publications/measuring-stakeholder-capitalism-towards-common-metrics-and-consistent-reporting-of-sustainable-value-creation/
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Appendix II: Double materiality assessment methodology

Scope and boundaries
The scope includes the evaluation of actual and potential IROs 
relevant to EY Norway, considering its context, such as employee 
numbers, sector engagement, market situation, and forecasts for 
risks and opportunities.

EY Norway has carried out peer assessment as a key part of 
our DMA process. Our team investigated information about 
peer companies operating in the same market and sector as EY, 
focusing on their reports about the environment, human rights, 
and how they affect society. During this process, we gathered 
information on questions of sustainability goals, engagement with 
global initiatives and sustainability strategy. This careful analysis of 
our peers helped us ensure that our own DMA was thorough and in 
line with what is expected in our industry

In parallel, stakeholder engagement, including interviews 
with central stakeholders and People Pulse surveys, provided 
additional insights, which were then integrated into EY’s DMA. This 
information served as the foundation for developing a preliminary 
list of potential IROs. The IRO list was refined through iterative 
revisions, drawing from the desktop assessment, stakeholder 
dialogues conducted by EY and the peer assessment to ensure the 
clarity and precision of the criteria for assessment and scoring. All 
IROs were assessed as inherent impacts, risks or opportunities not 
factoring mitigating actions into the scoring of ‘scale’ or ‘scope’. 
Furthermore, all IROs have been classified as ‘actual’ or ‘potential’ 
and ‘negative’ or ‘positive’, as well as upstream, own operations 
or downstream IROs. A sustainability matter has been considered 

material if at least one IRO exceeded the overall materiality 
threshold on either impact materiality or financial materiality. 

Immaterial topics

A number of topics have been deemed immaterial following the 
review of IROs. This includes the topics of pollution, water and 
marine resources, resource use and circular economy as well as 
biodiversity.  
 
EY’s upstream and downstream value chain relies only to low 
extent on the physical environment and has limited impact on 
the same. Our main activities involve the delivery of consulting 
and auditing services and our offices are located in cities and 
developed areas.  
 
For all areas we can have an impact from the services we are 
providing and we are investing in services related to circular 
economy and biodiversity in particular. Our impact on those areas 
are covered in the topic consumers and end-users. 

The identification of pollution-related impacts, risks and 
opportunities followed the same process as the identification of 
all IROs, namely through stakeholder engagement, peer reviews 
and desktop analysis. The topic was ultimately determined to be 
immaterial.

In relation to biodiversity, it was assessed that there were 
no locations affecting biodiversity sensitive areas, and the 
identification of impacts, risks and opportunities followed the 

same methodology as for all other topics. Several impacts, risks 
and opportunities were identified, however there was no specific 
consideration of ecosystem services or risk type in terms of 
transition, physical or systemic, as this was not deemed necessary 
to perform the materiality assessment. The topic was ultimately 
deemed immaterial.

No topic-specific consultations were made, but our stakeholder 
engagement strategy included several insights from internal 
experts on all the sustainability topics within the ESRS.

Scoring criteria
Assessing materiality
In a DMA, material impacts are defined by assessing both negative 
and positive impacts using specific criteria.

For negative impacts, the score is calculated by considering 
the scale (severity of the impact), scope (how widespread it is), 
irremediability (how difficult it is to remediate the impact), and 
likelihood. For positive impacts, the score considers scale, scope 
and likelihood.

The methodology emphasizes the severity of potential negative 
impacts, in cases related to human rights and the environment, 
following ESRS 1 guidelines.

To assess risks and opportunities, these were scored on the two 
parameters of magnitude of financial effect as well as the likelihood 
of occurrence.

Scenarios 
EY Norway has also assessed all impacts, risks, and opportunities 
within three possible future scenarios: “Business as usual,” 
“Transform,” and “Collapse.” The scenarios are based on the 
IPCC’s forecasts for the future. The scenario in which the impact, 
risk, or opportunity would potentially be the greatest was 
recorded.

Time horizons
In addition to the scoring, IROs are mapped to a time horizon, 
discerning between short-term, within 1 year, medium-term, 2–5 
years, and long-term, over 5 years.

Threshold setting
Thresholds were set at a reasonable level relative to the equation 
that resulted in the score. The IROs which got a final score above 
the threshold were deemed material for this report.
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Appendix III: Descriptions of risk, quality and due diligence processes

Due diligence process of accepting clients and 
engagements
The EY global policy on client and engagement acceptance sets out 
principles for member firms to determine whether to accept a new 
client, a new engagement with an existing client, or to continue 
with an existing client or engagement. Client and engagement 
acceptance is an important business enabler and integral in how 
EY effectively manages client and engagement risks. Client and 
engagement acceptance is performed and recorded in EY’s global 
tool PACE (Process for Acceptance of Clients and Engagements) 

The process for acceptance or continuance of clients and 
engagements includes consideration of the engagement team’s 
assessment of risk factors across a broad range of categories 
such as industry, management’s attitude, internal controls, 
audit complexity and related parties. As part of this process, we 
carefully consider the risk characteristics of a prospective client or 
engagement, and the results of due diligence procedures. 

Due diligence process of accepting business 
relationships
Business relationships might have an impact on EY’s independence. 
Therefore, EY people are required to use Business Relationships 
Independence Data Gathering and Evaluation (BRIDGE) in many 
circumstances to identify, evaluate and obtain advance approval of 
a potential business relationship with an entity we audit, thereby 
supporting our compliance with independence requirements. 
BRIDGE is an example of a technological resource made available 
to EY Global member firms to drive consistency in the System of 
Quality Management.

Read more about EY Norway System of Quality Management, AQR 
program, PACE and Bridge in our Transparency Report FY25. 

International Standard on Quality Management 
(ISQM 1)
For all EY audit engagements covered by the assurance standard, 
EY Global and EY Norway have a strict quality control system in the 
International Standard on Quality Management (ISQM 1).

The purpose of the system is to provide reasonable security to EY’s 
clients and stakeholders that EY Norway fulfils its responsibilities 
in accordance with the professional standards and applicable 
legal and regulatory requirements, and that reports issued by 
EY Norway and our responsible Partners are appropriate to the 
circumstances. Read details about EY’s quality control system and 
the conclusion of the audit in FY25 in EY’s Transparency Report 
2025. .

Audit Quality Review
Every year, EY Global conducts reviews of a selection of completed 
audit assignments in EY Norway, carried out as part of the global 
Audit Quality Review (AQR). This is a control activity in accordance 
with the requirements and guidelines of ISQM 1, and where 
necessary, the surveys are expanded to comply with EY Norway’s 
professional standards and regulatory requirements. The program 
also contributes to EY Norway’s ongoing work to identify areas 
where we can improve our services or strengthen our policies and 
procedures. Read more in EY’s Transparency Report 2025. 

Quality and Risk Management (QRM)
EY’s commitment to quality applies to all projects across the 
company. The work to ensure quality in all service areas is part of 
our global Quality and Risk Management (QRM) system. It includes 
a range of guidelines and procedures designed to ensure that 
we deliver quality services that reflect our expectations of EY’s 
professional skills, which are ap	 propriate to the clients’ 
specific issues and in accordance with the terms and conditions 
of our engagement agreements. For each service area, a QRM 
responsible is appointed at the Nordic level, who is responsible for 
ensuring that annual project reviews are carried out and the results 
followed up. 
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Due Diligence Process for Acceptance of Clients 
and Engagements
EY’s global policy for the acceptance of clients and engagements 
sets out principles for member firms to determine whether to 
accept a new client, a new engagement with an existing client, 
or continue with an existing client or engagement. Client and 
engagement acceptance is an important business enabler and is 
integrated into how EY effectively manages client and engagement 
risk. Client and engagement acceptance is performed and recorded 
in EY’s global tool PACE (Process for Acceptance of Clients and 
Engagements). The process for accepting or continuing clients and 
engagements includes a review of the project team’s assessment 
of risk factors across a broad range of categories such as industry, 
management’s attitude, internal controls, audit complexity, and 
involved parties. As part of this process, we carefully assess the 
risk characteristics of a potential client or engagement, and the 
results of the due diligence procedures.

Human Rights Due Diligence
Since the fiscal year 2023, EY Norway, together with the rest of 
EY Nordics, has conducted a human rights due diligence covering 
our own operations and our supply chain. Read more in our 2025 
Human Rights Due Diligence Statement. 

Due Diligence of EY’s Supply Chain
EY Global Supply Chain Services has an established process for 
ESG supplier due diligence. In tender processes, all potential 
suppliers are asked to answer a series of questions about their 
business, including ESG-related questions. Confirmation is also 
requested on whether the business operates in accordance with 
EY’s ethical guidelines for suppliers — EY’s Supplier Code of 
Conduct.

In addition to mapping prior to major purchases, an ESG due 
diligence of existing suppliers was initiated at the global level in the 
fiscal year 2024. It is extended in FY25 and will take place yearly. 
More details on the DD-priocess se chapter S2. 

Risk and Opportunity Management in EY Norway
EY Norway has its own principles, including a framework, that 
address risk, internal control, and opportunity management. The 
principles are developed by EY Norway’s Compliance Officer and 
are approved by the board, and address the requirements for 
necessary follow-up and control of the ongoing operational risks 
for EY Norway. They also refer to EY Norway’s adopted values 
for accepted risk as well as reporting requirements. Quarterly 
risk reports are therefore submitted for each service area and 
department, as well as an annual summary of the risk picture, 
including which risks are considered to potentially affect the 
departments in the coming fiscal year.

It is EY Norway’s Compliance Officer who ensures compliance 
with the mentioned principles, while the Country Managing 
Partner is the owner of the area and therefore must approve all 
reports. An annual report is presented by the Country Managing 
Partner for final review and approval by the board. The service 
areas and departments themselves help identify areas of risk — 
including risks related to changes in climate and environment, 
social sustainability, and governance responsibility; as well as 
related legal requirements. By making functions and service 
areas responsible for risk assessments and measures, we spread 
the understanding of EY’s risk management, which we believe 
strengthens EY’s corporate culture and value in the market. 

Internal Controls of Sustainability Reporting
At EY Norway, we have established a governance structure and 
internal control system for how we collect data and develop our 
annual sustainability report. The system is established to ensure 
the quality of our data and to ensure oversight of our sustainability 
progress in our administrative, management, and supervisory 
bodies. Our risk management and internal controls regarding 
sustainability reporting are based on thorough collaboration 
between various functions. The data needed for the sustainability 
report is provided by various functions in the organization such 
as finance, payroll, human resources, facilities management, etc. 
Each function is responsible for the quality of the data provided 
to EY Nordics’ sustainability team. The Nordic sustainability 
team double-checks all data that is provided. An ESG controller is 
responsible for consolidating and quality assessing the data. Once 
the data is consolidated and quality assured at the Nordic level, 
each function at the country level, together with the corporate 
sustainability leader for that country, will be responsible for again 
checking the quality of the data for each country. Finally, during 
the review process of the report, before the report is externally 
audited, the board reviews and makes the final checks for all parts 
of the report.

https://www.ey.com/en_no/about-us/corporate-responsibility/human-rights
https://www.ey.com/en_no/about-us/corporate-responsibility/human-rights
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Appendix IV: Calculation Principles

EY Norway follows the Greenhouse Gas Protocol for calculating 
GHG emissions

Electricity
We have calculated the emissions based on an estimated electricity 
consumption of all EY offices in Norway. The estimation is 
based on the actual electricity consumption of 76% of EY office 
square meters where data is available. We have calculated 
the consumption per square meter (kWh/m2) of these offices, 
then estimated the consumption for the rest by multiplying the 
calculated kWh/m2 value by the square meters of the offices where 
we do not have data. The electricity consumed in the ten largest 
offices has been switched to green electricity since all offices have 
switched to green electricity.

Location-based emission factors have been sourced from NVE, 
electricity declarations 26.08.2025 and provide g CO2e/kWh.

Market based electricity is 100% renewable and it is certified 
according to the international European Energy Certificate System 
(EECS) standards and documented by the issue of Guarantee of 
Origin.

District heat
We have calculated the emissions based on actual heating from our 
3 biggest offices: Oslo, Bergen and Stavanger. These offices cover 
60% of office square meters for EY Norway. For all other offices 
we have used an estimate calculating the consumption per square 
meter (kWh/ m2) based on the these offices. The emission factors 
are from Fjernkontrollen.no, updated 2024, and provide g CO2e/
kWh.

Business travel
Business trips at EY are recorded by the location of the 
engagement for which the trip was done, not by the location where 
the traveler is based. We used conversion factors published by 
the UK Government’s Department for Environment, Food & Rural 
Affairs (DEFRA) for the calculations of emissions from air travel, 
car mileage, and hotel stays. The factors are CO2 equivalents.

Air travel
Flight distance and travel class data was sourced from the 
corporate travel booking system. An uplift factor was applied using 
EY expense data to account for instances where EY employees 
made bookings outside of the corporate travel system. We have 
used conversion factors published by the UK Government’s 
Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs (DEFRA). for 
the calculations of emissions from air travel. The factors are CO2e. 
Further, emission for Nordic events booked to a single country has 
been allocated to respective Nordic country following EY financial 
allocation principles. 

Car
Car mileage data was sourced from the corporate travel and 
expense system. The emissions have been calculated based on 
kilometers driven and with conversion factors published by the UK 
Government’s Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs 
(DEFRA). The factors are CO2e. Car fuel and car size are unknown; 
hence, we have used the factors for “average cars” (by size) with 
unknown fuel.

Hotel
Hotel nights and spend were sourced from the corporate travel 
booking system. We calculated them based on either the number 
of hotel nights or the spend, depending on the availability of the 
conversion factor of the hotel country. The number of hotel nights 
was used when a conversion factor can be found from DEFRA.

Train
We excluded rail travel because of unreliable data. We plan to 
include it in future reports after we have improved the data.

Waste
We calculated the emissions based on an estimate of the total 
amount of waste generated in all EY offices in Norway. We 
calculated the rate of waste per full-time equivalent (FTE) in Oslo, 
Bergen and Stavanger. This rate was then multiplied by the number 
of full-time equivalents in other offices where we do not have data 
from. Emission factors were sourced from the UK Government’s 
Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs (DEFRA). The 
factors are CO2 equivalents.

Employee commuting
A distance-based approach was used to calculate the emissions. We 
conducted an employee survey in April 2024 to collect data which 
includes travel distance, travel mode, and number of days working 
at the office. Response rate was over 50 %. Based on the survey, 
emissions per FTE were calculated, then applied to the entire EY 
Norway personnel. DEFRA factors for each transportation mode is 
used. The factors are CO2 equivalent.

Homeworking
The emissions were calculated based on the number of remote 
work days, which were collected from the employee commuting 
survey. Remote Working Emissions Methodology use the 
baseline energy consumption for each EY Member Firm using 
annual residential electricity and natural gas consumption data 
from the International Energy Agency (IEA), divided by the 
respective country population (sourced from the World Bank for 
the relevant year).

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-for-environment-food-rural-affairs
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-for-environment-food-rural-affairs
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-for-environment-food-rural-affairs
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-for-environment-food-rural-affairs
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-for-environment-food-rural-affairs
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Aina Karlsen Røed 

Position:
Managing Partner Consulting Norway

Chair since:
2024 

Board member since:
2018

Employed since:
1999

Education:
State Authorized Public Accountant, NHH Executive Board program

Experience:
Aina has extensive experience at EY with several leadership roles in Norway, 
the Nordics, and driving big deals enablement units across both Europe and 
Global. She has consulting experience in technology, information security, 
project management and quality assurance, process improvement, corporate 
governance, risk management, and internal control/audit.

Aina works with clients in the public sector (municipal, state, and health) as 
well as in the technology and telecommunications sectors. She is committed to 
the quality of EY’s deliveries and is passionate about helping clients with their 
improvement journeys.

 
 
 
Maria Grindevoll Strønstad

Position:
Senior Manager, Business Consulting, EY

Board member since:
2022

Employed since:
2018

Education:
Master’s degree in Economics and Business Administration (NTNU) 

Experience:
Maria has a strong commitment to business and commercial development with 
a particular focus on strategy and sustainability. Through her projects, she 
collaborates closely with the business community to address challenges related 
to sustainable growth, innovation, and development. She is passionate about 
promoting solutions that foster long-term growth and competitiveness within 
a sustainable economy. As a board member and employee representative 
at EY, Maria actively works to ensure that EY is leading in this development. 
She also contributes to recruitment, internal training, and supports regional 
entrepreneurship initiatives.

  
 

 
 
 
Finn Ole Edstrøm 

Position:
Partner, Assurance Norway

Board member since:
2023

Employed since:
2002

Education:
Bachelor with Honours Business Organisation, Master in Accounting and 
Auditing, State Authorized Public Accountant, Master in Finance

Experience:
Finn Ole is an auditor with many years experience auditing large multinational 
and privately owned companies. He has vast leadership experience through 
various roles within the Assurance business area of EY Norway. Since 2016 
and up until 30 June 2025, he has been the Assurance leader in Norway, 
responsible for audit and audit-related advisory services. Finn Ole is focused on 
the auditor’s role as a trusted representative of society and the importance of 
our contribution to a well-functioning capital market through accurate financial 
reporting. He is also highly engaged in the development of the auditor’s 
reputation and the attractiveness of the audit profession among students.  

 
 
 
Stian Ellingsen

Position:
Senior Manager, Doberman, EY

Board member since:
2025

Employed since:
2018

Education:
MSc in Business Administration (NHH); Master’s in international management 
(CEMS)

Experience:
Stian has proven expertise in helping clients identify value and growth drivers, 
develop and implement innovation agendas, and enable execution through 
technology, people and process optimization. He is the founder and Nordic 
leader of EY’s startup accelerator program Amplifier, where his focus is to 
support the ecosystem with strategy, business development 

and innovation. Throughout his career, Stian has fostered multidisciplinary 
collaborations and focus on leveraging strategic ecosystem partnerships to 
enable sustainable commercial growth. As a board member, Stian will work 
to ensure that EY continue to be a driver for innovation and sustainable 
commercial growth in the market.  
 

 
 
 
Ivar Vikasæter 

Position:
Manager, Audit, EY

Board member since:
(2022-2023), 2025

Employed since:
2020

Education:
Master’s degree in accounting and auditing, State Authorized Public Accountant

Experience:
Ivar works as an auditor for large, listed entities in both the US and Norway, 
with extensive experience in international audits conducted under ISA and 
PCAOB standards. He has also contributed to IPO processes and cross-
border transactions, providing assurance and insight in complex, high-stakes 
environments. Ivar also possesses prior experience in the recruitment and 
onboarding of new hires at EY.  

 
 
 
Tone Mari Flatland

Position:
Partner, Assurance

Board member since:
2023

Employed since:
2005

Education:
Master of Science in Economics and Business Administration (UiA), Master’s 
in Accounting and Auditing (BI Norwegian Business School), State Authorized 
Public Accountant 

Experience:
Tone Mari has extensive and broad experience as an auditor for both Norwegian 
and international clients. She has experience in various sectors such as real 
estate, industry, commerce, and technology. She is highly focused on delivering 
high-quality services and being a good discussion partner for our clients.

Tone Mari has been a strong contributor to recruitment efforts both locally and 
nationally. She is passionate about identifying talents, building strong teams, 
and promoting diversity and inclusion.

Tone Mari also has several years of leadership experience as the office manager 
for EY’s operations in Porsgrunn, as well as several years of experience in EY 
Norway’s leadership team.

 
 
 
Maria E. Høyen

Position:
Senior Manager, Assurance, EY

Board member since:
2024

Employed since:
2022

Education:
Master’s degree in Business Economics (UiT); Master’s degree in Auditing and 
Accounting (UiT); State Authorized Public Accountant

Experience: 
Maria has experience in auditing a wide range of companies in various 
industries, including international and publicly listed companies of varying 
sizes. She is dedicated to providing our clients with the best possible experience 
by listening, asking relevant questions, and providing accurate and good 
answers. Maria is very focused on being a good role model and is strongly 
committed to continuous learning and talent development. Maria is passionate 
about community, a strong, positive culture, and a good working environment. 
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Mette Anett Granheim

Position:
Head of Transfer Pricing Norway, Head of Talent 
Area in Tax Norway Tax & Law, EY

Board member since:
2024

Employed since:
2007

Education:
Master in Business and Economics

Experience:
Mette is the head of Transfer Pricing at EY Norway and is part of the leadership 
in Tax & Law with special responsibility for the “People dimension.” She is also 
a former sector leader for the tax part of the TMT sector in the Nordics. Mette 
is a transfer pricing specialist with over 20 years of experience and has worked 
with Norwegian and international companies in various industries, including 
many of the largest Norwegian companies. She also has experience from the 
tax authorities.

Mette is focused on ensuring that EY’s clients can navigate an increasingly 
complex and uncertain tax world, and she places high value on quality and 
advice based on integrity and collaboration. Mette is passionate about being a 
good role model for a new generation of valuable contributors to the business 
community. Diversity and gender balance are important keywords in her daily 
work, and something she is particularly focused on in her role as People Partner 
for Tax & Law. 

 
 
Einar Hersvik 

Position:
Norwegian and Europe Central Professional 
Practice Director, Assurance, EY

Board member since:
2021

Employed since:
2004

Education:
Master’s degree in Economics and Business Administration; State Authorized 
Public Accountant; Norwegian Cand. Merc. degree in Finance and Accounting

Experience:
Einar is the Norwegian and Europe Central Professional Practice Director with 
overall responsibility for quality and risk management within the Assurance 
service line.

Einar also has extensive experience as an auditor for banks and financial 
institutions with both Norwegian and international operations, including the 
largest Nordic banks and systemically important institutions.

He strongly believes in the importance of quality in our work and is focused 
on high quality and accurate market information in both financial and non-
financial reporting processes. Einar is focused on ensuring that EY’s clients 
appear as competent and professional market players that can be trusted in the 
international capital market. This focus is also brought into the board work to 
ensure that EY maintains its market-leading position in Norway.onboarding of 
new hires at EY. 

 
 
 
Erik Haagensen

Position:
Partner, EY-Parthenon

Board member since:
2021

Employed since:
2002

Education:
Master in Business and Economics; Master of Science – Professional 
Accountancy 

Experience:
Erik is a transaction advisor at EY-Parthenon with extensive experience in 
acquisition and divestiture of both national and international companies. In 
every transaction, Erik is focused on not acting as an external consultant, but 
as a member of the client’s team — working towards a shared goal. He also 
brings significant experience in recruitment, which he often refers to as “the 
most important thing we do”. Erik finds it rewarding to see young talents, what 
he likes to call “likeable professionals”, grow from recent graduates into skilled 
advisors. 
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EY | Building a better working world

EY is building a better working world by creating new value for 
clients, people, society and the planet, while building trust in 
capital markets.

Enabled by data, AI and advanced technology, EY teams help 
clients shape the future with confidence and develop answers for 
the most pressing issues of today and tomorrow.

EY teams work across a full spectrum of services in assurance, 
consulting, tax, strategy and transactions. Fueled by sector 
insights, a globally connected, multidisciplinary network and 
diverse ecosystem partners, EY teams can provide services in 
more than 150 countries and territories.

All in to shape the future with confidence.

EY refers to the global organization, and may refer to one or more, of the member 
firms of Ernst & Young Global Limited, each of which is a separate legal entity. Ernst & 
Young Global Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee, does not provide services 
to clients. Information about how EY collects and uses personal data and a description 
of the rights individuals have under data protection legislation are available via ey.com/
privacy. EY member firms do not practice law where prohibited by local laws. For more 
information about our organization, please visit ey.com.

When using the global descriptor in a cross-border news release, add the following as a 
sixth paragraph:

This news release has been issued by EYGM Limited, a member of the global EY 
organization that also does not provide any services to clients.

© 2025 Ernst & Young AS 
All rights reserved

ED None

This material has been prepared for general informational purposes only and is not intended to be relied upon as 
accounting, tax, legal or other professional advice. Please refer to your advisors for specific advice.
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